Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: December 19, 2019 REVISED: April 16, 2020 ACCEPTED: April 27, 2020 PUBLISHED: June 1, 2020

Flavor phenomenology of the leptoquark singlet-triplet model

Andreas Crivellin,^a Dario Müller^{a,b} and Francesco Saturnino^c

^a Paul Scherrer Institut,

CH-5232 Villigen PSI, Switzerland

^bPhysik-Institut, Universität Zürich,

Winterthurerstrasse 190, CH-8057 Zürich, Switzerland

^cAlbert Einstein Center for Fundamental Physics, Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Bern, CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland

E-mail: and reas.crivellin@cern.ch, dario.mueller@psi.ch, saturnino@itp.unibe.ch

ABSTRACT: In recent years, experiments revealed intriguing hints for new physics (NP) in semi-leptonic B decays. Both in charged current processes, involving $b \to c\tau\nu$ transitions, and in the neutral currents $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$, a preference for NP compared to the standard model (SM) of more that 3σ and 5σ was found, respectively. In addition, there is the long-standing tension between the theory prediction and the measurement of the anomalous magnetic moment (AMM) of the muon (a_{μ}) of more than 3σ . Since all these observables are related to the violation of lepton flavor universality (LFU), a common NP explanation seems not only plausible but is even desirable. In this context, leptoquarks (LQs) are especially promising since they give tree-level effects in semi-leptonic B decays, but only loop-suppressed effects in other flavor observables that agree well with their SM predictions. Furthermore, LQs can lead to a m_t/m_μ enhanced effect in a_μ , allowing for an explanation even with (multi) TeV particles. However, a single scalar LQ representation cannot provide a common solution to all three anomalies. In this article we therefore consider a model in which we combine two scalar LQs: the $SU(2)_L$ singlet and the $SU(2)_L$ triplet. Within this model we compute all relevant 1-loop effects and perform a comprehensive phenomenological analysis, pointing out various interesting correlations among the observables. Furthermore, we identify benchmark points which are in fact able to explain all three anomalies $(b \to c\tau\nu, b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ and $a_\mu)$, without violating bounds from other observables, and study their predictions for future measurements.

KEYWORDS: Beyond Standard Model, Heavy Quark Physics

ARXIV EPRINT: 1912.04224



https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP06(2020)020

Contents

1	Introduction						
2	Setup						
3	Processes and observables						
	3.1	$dd\ell\ell$ and $dd\gamma$ processes	6				
	3.2	$dd\nu\nu$ processes	10				
	3.3	$du\ell\nu$ processes	10				
	3.4	$\Delta F = 2$ processes	12				
	3.5	$\ell\ell\gamma$ processes	13				
	3.6	$Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$ processes	15				
	3.7	$W\ell\nu$ processes	17				
	3.8	4ℓ processes	18				
	3.9	$\ell\ell\nu\nu$ processes	19				
4	Phenomenology						
	4.1	LHC bounds	20				
	4.2	$b \to c \tau \nu$	21				
	4.3	$b \to c \tau \nu$ and $b \to s \ell^+ \ell^-$	25				
	4.4	$b \to c \tau \nu, b \to s \ell^+ \ell^-$ and a_μ	25				
5	Cor	nclusions	26				
Α	Loop functions and exact results						
	A.1	Loop functions	28				
	A.2	$dd\ell\ell$	29				
	A.3	$uu\gamma$ and EDM	29				
	A.4	$du\ell u$	30				
	A.5	$dd\nu\nu$ and $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing	30				
	A.6	$\ell\ell\gamma, Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$	31				
	A.7	$W\ell u$	33				
	A.8	$\tau \to 3\mu, \tau \to \mu e^+ e^- \text{ and } \mu \to 3e$	34				
	A.9	$ au o \ell \nu \bar{\nu}$ and $\mu \to e \nu \bar{\nu}$	34				

JHEP06 (2020) 020

1 Introduction

While the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) at CERN has not directly observed any particles beyond the ones of the SM (see e.g. refs. [1, 2] for an overview) intriguing indirect hints for NP have been acquired in flavor observables. In particular, measurements of semi-leptonic B meson decays, involving the charged current $b \rightarrow c\tau\nu$ or the flavor changing neutral current $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$, point towards the violation of LFU. Furthermore, also the AMM of the muon, which measures LFU violation as it vanishes in the massless limit, points convincingly towards physics beyond the SM. In order to explain these deviations from the SM predictions — also called anomalies — one thus needs NP that couples differently to tau leptons, muons and electrons. As we will see, LQs are prime candidates for such an explanation in terms of physics beyond the SM.

Let us now review these anomalies in more detail. The first anomaly arose in the AMM of the muon $a_{\mu} = (g-2)_{\mu}/2$ in 2006. Here, the E821 experiment at Brookhaven discovered a tantalizing tension between their measurement [3, 4]

$$a_{\mu}^{\exp} = 116,592,089(63) \times 10^{-11} \tag{1.1}$$

and the SM prediction¹

$$\delta a_{\mu} = a_{\mu}^{\exp} - a_{\mu}^{SM} = (278 \pm 88) \times 10^{-11}$$
(1.2)

of around 3–4 σ .² This discrepancy is of the same order as the electroweak contribution of the SM. Therefore, TeV scale NP needs an enhancement mechanism, called chiral enhancement, to be able to account for the deviation [35]. For LQs this factor can be $m_t/m_{\mu} \approx 10^3$ which provides the required enhancement, making LQs prime candidates for an explanation in terms of NP [35–53]. In fact, there are only two LQ representations (under the SM gauge group), out of the 10 possible ones [54], that can have this enhancement: the scalar LQ SU(2)_L singlet and the scalar LQ SU(2)_L doublet with hypercharge -2/3 and -7/3, respectively.

In tauonic B decays, BaBar measured in 2012 the ratios

$$R(D^{(*)}) = \frac{\text{Br}[B \to D^{(*)}\tau\nu]}{\text{Br}[B \to D^{(*)}\ell\nu]} \quad \text{with} \quad \ell = \{e, \mu\}$$
(1.3)

significantly above the SM predictions [55]. This is in agreement with the later LHCb measurements [56–58] of $R(D^*)$, while BELLE found values closer to the SM in its latest analysis [59]. In combination, these deviations from the SM amount to 3.1σ [60].³

¹The SM prediction of a_{μ} is currently re-evaluated in a community-wide effort prompted by upcoming improved measurements at Fermilab [5] and J-PARC [6], see also ref. [7]. With electroweak [8–10] and QED [11] contributions under good control, recent advances in the evaluation of the hadronic part include: hadronic vacuum polarization [12–18], hadronic light-by-light scattering [19–25], and higher-order hadronic corrections [26, 27].

²During the publication process of this article, the Budapest-Marseilles-Wuppertal collaboration (BMWc) released a lattice QCD calculation from hadronic vacuum polarization (HVP) [28]. These results would render the SM prediction for a_{μ} compatible with the experiment. However, the BMWc results are in tension with the HVP determined from $e^+e^- \rightarrow$ hadrons data [13, 16, 29, 30], combined with analyticity and unitarity constraints for the leading 2π [18, 29, 31] and 3π [32] channels, covering almost 80% of the HVP contribution. Furthermore, the HVP also enters the global EW fit [33], whose (indirect) determination disagrees with the BMWc result. Therefore, the BMWc determination of the HVP would lead to a significant tension in EW fit [34] and we therefore use the (conservative) estimate of eq. (1.2).

³This tension would even slightly increase by around 0.3σ if the new theory prediction of $R(D^*)$ of ref. [61] was taken into account.

Interestingly, also the ratio

$$R(J/\psi) = \frac{\text{Br}[B_c \to J/\psi\tau\nu]}{\text{Br}[B_c \to J/\psi\mu\nu]}$$
(1.4)

lies above its SM prediction [62], supporting the assumption of NP in $b \to c\tau\nu$ [63, 64]. This picture is confirmed by different independent global fits [65–68] which include in addition polarization observables. Interestingly, these hints for NP are accompanied by data on $b \to u\tau\nu$ transitions.

Once more, LQs are prime candidates for an explanation. Despite the U_1 vector LQ $SU(2)_L$ singlet [69–86] and scalar LQ S_2 option [41, 87–95], the scalar LQ Φ_1 [36, 40, 50, 74, 89, 96–110] or the combination of Φ_1 and Φ_3 ,⁴ can explain these data [49, 74, 111, 112].

Finally, the statistically most significant deviations from the SM predictions were observed in observables involving $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ transitions. Here, the LHCb measurements [113, 114] of

$$R(K^{(*)}) = \frac{\operatorname{Br}[B \to K^{(*)}\mu^+\mu^-]}{\operatorname{Br}[B \to K^{(*)}e^+e^-]}$$
(1.5)

indicate LFU violation with a combined significance of $\approx 4\sigma$ [115–125]. Taking in addition into account all other $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$ observables, e.g. the angular observable P'_5 [126] in the decay $B \to K^*\mu^+\mu^-$, the global fit of the Wilson coefficients even prefers several NP scenarios above the 5σ level [122–124]. Furthermore, $b \to d\ell^+\ell^-$ transitions measured in $B \to \pi\mu^+\mu^-$ [127] deviate slightly from the LHCb measurement [128]. While this is not significant on its own, the central value is very well in agreement with the expectation from $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ assuming a V_{td}/V_{ts} -like scaling [129] of the NP effect as obtained in models possessing an U(2) flavor symmetry in the quark sector (see e.g. refs. [76, 130– 132] for accounts in the context of the flavor anomalies). This means that an effect of the same order and sign as in $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$, relative to the SM, is preferred. Once more, LQs are prime candidates for an explanation. In particular the U_1 vector LQ SU(2)_L singlet [69, 70, 72–77, 79, 80, 82, 84–86, 133, 134], the U_3 vector LQ SU(2)_L triplet [70– 73, 75, 80, 83, 84, 134, 135] and the Φ_3 scalar LQ SU(2)_L triplet [71, 73–75, 80, 84, 134, 136] can explain data very well via a purely left-handed current.

From the discussion above it is clear that there are several options for a combined explanation of the flavor anomalies with LQs. Here we will consider the singlet-triplet model introduced in refs. [49, 111] which was also studied in the context of Dark Matter [137]. Within this model, a combined explanation can be possible since Φ_1 can account for the anomaly in a_{μ} and affects $b \to c\tau\nu$ transitions while Φ_3 can explain $b \to s\ell^+\ell^$ data and enters $b \to c\tau\nu$ processes. Furthermore, their combined effects in $b \to s\nu\bar{\nu}$ processes can be destructive, relieving the bounds. However, in order to perform a complete phenomenological analysis, an inclusion of all relevant loop effects is necessary. We will compute these effects and extend the analysis of ref. [49], allowing for couplings of Φ_1 to right-handed fermions.

 $^{{}^{4}\}Phi_{1}$ and Φ_{3} are also called S_{1} and S_{3} , respectively, in the literature.

	Φ_1	Φ_3	Q	L	l	u	d
Y	-2/3	-2/3	1/3	-1	-2	4/3	-2/3

 Table 1. Values of the hypercharges for the LQ and fermion fields.

The outline of the article is as follows: In the next section we will define our setup. The conventions for the various observables as well as the results of the matching, taking into account the relevant loop effects, are given in section 3 before we perform our phenomenological analysis in section 4 and conclude in section 5.

2 Setup

The scalar LQ singlet-triplet model is obtained by adding a scalar LQ SU(2)_L singlet (Φ_1) and an SU(2)_L triplet (Φ_3), each carrying hypercharge -2/3, to the SM particle content. While the couplings to gauge bosons are completely determined by the representations of the LQs under the SM gauge symmetry, their couplings to the SM fermions and the SM Higgs⁵ are free parameters of the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{LQ} = \left(\lambda_{fi}^{I} \overline{Q_{f}^{c}} i \tau_{2} L_{i} + \hat{\lambda}_{fi}^{I} \overline{u_{f}^{c}} \ell_{i}\right) \Phi_{1}^{I\dagger} + \kappa_{fi}^{J} \overline{Q_{f}^{c}} i \tau_{2} \left(\tau \cdot \Phi_{3}^{J}\right)^{\dagger} L_{i} + \rho_{IJ} \Phi_{1}^{I\dagger} \left(H^{\dagger} \left(\tau \cdot \Phi_{3}^{J}\right) H\right)$$
(2.1)

$$-\sum_{\{I,I'\}=1}^{N} \left(\left(M_{\Phi_{1}}^{2} \right)_{II'} - \xi_{II'}^{\Phi_{1}} H^{\dagger} H \right) \Phi_{1}^{I\dagger} \Phi_{1}^{I'} - \sum_{\{J,J'\}=1}^{M} \left(\left(M_{\Phi_{3}}^{2} \right)_{JJ'} - \xi_{JJ'}^{\Phi_{3}} H^{\dagger} H \right) \Phi_{3}^{J\dagger} \Phi_{3}^{J'} + \text{h.c.}$$

Here, Q(L) is the quark (lepton) $SU(2)_L$ doublet and $u(\ell)$ the quark (charged lepton) singlet. The superscript c denotes charge conjugation, f, i are flavor indices and $I^{(\ell)}, J^{(\ell)}$ denote the number of LQs in a given representation (i.e. $\{I, I'\} = 1, \ldots, N$ for Φ_1 and $\{J, J'\} = 1, \ldots, M$ for Φ_3).⁶ For the hypercharge Y we use the convention $Q_{em} = T_3 + Y/2$, where Q_{em} is the electric charge and T_3 the third component of weak isospin (see table 1).

After electroweak symmetry breaking the Higgs acquires its vacuum expectation value $v \approx 174 \,\text{GeV}$. The last term in eq. (2.1) then leads to a shift in the bi-linear mass terms of the LQs. However, this shift can be absorbed by defining

$$\left(M_{\Phi_{1,3}}^2\right)_{KK'} - v^2 \xi_{KK'}^{\Phi_{1,3}} \equiv \left(\tilde{M}_{\Phi_{1,3}}^2\right)_{KK'} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

Thus, the terms $\xi_{KK'}^{\Phi_{1,3}}$ have (at leading order in perturbation theory) no impact on the low energy flavor phenomenology of the singlet-triplet model but would only enter processes with an external Higgs (or at higher loop level). Furthermore, by unitary rotations of the LQ fields, we can now diagonalize their bi-linear mass terms via unitary rotations $U_{1,2}$:

$$U_{1}^{\dagger}\tilde{M}_{\Phi_{1}}^{2}U_{1} = \operatorname{diag}\left(\hat{m}_{1}^{2}, \dots, \hat{m}_{N}^{2}\right) \equiv m_{\Phi_{1}}^{2},$$

$$U_{3}^{\dagger}\tilde{M}_{\Phi_{3}}^{2}U_{3} = \operatorname{diag}\left(\bar{m}_{1}^{2}, \dots, \bar{m}_{M}^{2}\right) \equiv m_{\Phi_{3}}^{2}.$$
(2.3)

⁵Couplings to the Higgs lead to mixing among different LQ representations. Via this mixing LQs are able to generate Majorana masses for neutrinos [40, 112, 138–143].

⁶In the R-parity violating MSSM this would correspond to the number of generations for the singlet. However, in general N and M do not need to be equal.

In turn, these rotations lead to an effect in the couplings to the Higgs which can however be absorbed by the definition

$$U_1^{\dagger} \rho U_3 \equiv \hat{\rho} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

The LQ field rotations in eq. (2.3) have to be applied to their fermionic interactions as well. Here, they can again be absorbed by a redefinition of the couplings

$$\lambda_{fi}^{I}U_{1,KI}^{*} \equiv \lambda_{fi}^{K}, \quad \hat{\lambda}_{fi}^{I}U_{1,KI}^{*} \equiv \hat{\lambda}_{fi}^{K}, \quad \kappa_{fi}^{J}U_{3,KJ}^{*} \equiv \kappa_{fi}^{K}.$$
(2.5)

Hence, we are left with diagonal bi-linear mass terms with entries $(m_{\Phi_1}^2)_{II}$ and $(m_{\Phi_3}^2)_{JJ}$ and off-diagonal $\Phi_1 - \Phi_3$ mixing governed by $\hat{\rho}_{IJ}$. While the LQs with $Q_{em} = \{2/3, -4/3\}$ are already in their mass eigenstates, we have to diagonalize the resulting full matrix of the $\Phi_1 - \Phi_3$ system with $Q_{em} = -1/3$

$$W^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} m_{\Phi_1}^2 & v^2 \hat{\rho} \\ v^2 \hat{\rho}^{\dagger} & m_{\Phi_3}^2 \end{pmatrix} W = \text{diag} \left(m_1^2, \dots, m_{M+N}^2 \right) , \qquad (2.6)$$

with a unitary matrix W. Working in the down basis, i.e. in the basis where no CKM elements appear in flavor changing neutral currents of down-type quarks, this leads to the following interaction terms with fermions

$$\mathcal{L}_{LQ} = \Gamma^{L,K}_{u_f \ell_i} \bar{u}_f^c P_L \ell_i \Phi_K^{-1/3*} + \Gamma^{R,K}_{u_f \ell_i} \bar{u}_f^c P_R \ell_i \Phi_K^{-1/3*} + \Gamma^{L,K}_{d_f \nu_i} \bar{d}_f^c P_L \nu_i \Phi_K^{-1/3*} + \Gamma^J_{u_f \nu_i} \bar{u}_f^c P_L \nu_i \Phi_J^{2/3*} + \Gamma^J_{d_f \ell_i} \bar{d}_f^c P_L \ell_i \Phi_J^{-4/3*},$$
(2.7)

where the superscripts of the LQ fields refer to their electric charge and

$$\Gamma_{u_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L,K} = V_{fj}^{*} \left(\lambda_{ji}^{I} W_{IK}^{*} - \kappa_{ji}^{J} W_{J+N,K}^{*} \right) ,
\Gamma_{u_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R,K} = \hat{\lambda}_{fi}^{I} W_{IK}^{*} ,
\Gamma_{d_{f}\nu_{i}}^{L,K} = -\lambda_{fi}^{I} W_{IK}^{*} - \kappa_{fi}^{J} W_{J+N,K}^{*} ,
\Gamma_{u_{f}\nu_{i}}^{J} = \sqrt{2} V_{fj}^{*} \kappa_{ji}^{J} ,
\Gamma_{d_{f}\ell_{i}}^{J} = -\sqrt{2} \kappa_{fi}^{J} .$$
(2.8)

Recall that the indices take the numbers $I = \{1, ..., N\}$, $J = \{1, ..., M\}$ and $K = \{1, ..., M + N\}$. In the limit with only one generation of each LQ and without mixing we have

$$\Gamma_{u_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L,K} = V_{fj}^{*} \left(\lambda_{ji}\delta_{1K} - \kappa_{ji}\delta_{2K} \right), \qquad \Gamma_{u_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R,K} = \hat{\lambda}_{fi}\delta_{1K},$$

$$\Gamma_{d_{f}\nu_{i}}^{L,K} = -\lambda_{fi}\delta_{1K} - \kappa_{fi}\delta_{2K}, \qquad \Gamma_{u_{f}\nu_{i}} = \sqrt{2}V_{fj}^{*}\kappa_{ji}, \qquad \Gamma_{d_{f}\ell_{i}} = -\sqrt{2}\kappa_{fi},$$

$$(2.9)$$

where the indices 1 and 2 correspond to Φ_1 and Φ_3 , respectively.

3 Processes and observables

In order to illustrate the phenomenology of our model, we will limit ourselves to the case of one LQ singlet Φ_1 and one LQ triplet Φ_3 without mixing among them. Therefore, we will derive the corresponding expressions for the relevant processes in this simplified limit in this section and denote by M_1 and M_3 the singlet and triplet mass, respectively. In the appendix we will provide the most general expressions for the Wilson coefficients allowing for an arbitrary number of LQs and include mixing among them.

Let us now study the various classes of processes. For each class, we will first define the effective Hamiltonians governing these processes and perform the matching of the model on them. Then we discuss the relation of the Wilson coefficients to observables and review the related available experimental information.

3.1 $dd\ell\ell$ and $dd\gamma$ processes

To describe $d_k \to d_j \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$ transitions, we use the effective Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{dd\ell\ell} = -\frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^* \left[\sum_{A=7,8} C_A^{jk} \mathcal{O}_A^{jk} + \sum_{A=9,10} C_{A,jk}^{fi} \mathcal{O}_{A,jk}^{fi} \right],$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{7(8)}^{jk} = \frac{e(g_s)}{16\pi^2} m_k [\bar{d}_j \sigma^{\mu\nu} (T^a) P_R d_k] F_{\mu\nu} (G_{\mu\nu}^a),$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{9,jk}^{fi} = \frac{\alpha}{4\pi} [\bar{d}_j \gamma^{\mu} P_L d_k] [\bar{\ell}_f \gamma_{\mu} \ell_i],$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{10,jk}^{fi} = \frac{\alpha}{4\pi} [\bar{d}_j \gamma^{\mu} P_L d_k] [\bar{\ell}_f \gamma_{\mu} \gamma_5 \ell_i],$$
(3.1)

and define the covariant derivate as

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + i e Q A_{\mu} + i g_s G^a_{\mu} T^a \,. \tag{3.2}$$

At tree level, the only matching contribution to $C_{9,jk}^{fi}$ and $C_{10,jk}^{fi}$ stems from Φ_3

$$C_{9,jk}^{fi} = -C_{10,jk}^{fi} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \frac{\pi}{\alpha} \frac{\kappa_{ki} \kappa_{jf}^*}{M_3^2} \,.$$
(3.3)

As in any model, the Wilson coefficients of the (chromo) magnetic operator can only be generated at the loop level. The left two diagrams in figure 1 (given for concreteness for $b \rightarrow s$ transitions) with on-shell photon and gluons result in

$$C_{7}^{jk}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) = \frac{-\sqrt{2}}{4G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \frac{1}{24} \left(\frac{1}{3} \frac{\lambda_{ki} \lambda_{ji}^*}{M_1^2} + 7 \frac{\kappa_{ki} \kappa_{ji}^*}{M_3^2} \right),$$

$$C_8^{jk}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \frac{1}{24} \left(\frac{\lambda_{ki} \lambda_{ji}^*}{M_1^2} + 3 \frac{\kappa_{ki} \kappa_{ji}^*}{M_3^2} \right),$$
(3.4)

at the matching scale μ_{LQ} .

Concerning the QCD evolution of these coefficients, O_8 mixes into O_7 at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$, yielding the relation [144, 145]

$$\begin{pmatrix} C_7(\mu_l) \\ C_8(\mu_l) \end{pmatrix} = \hat{U}^f(\mu_l, \mu_h) \begin{pmatrix} C_7(\mu_h) \\ C_8(\mu_h) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.5)$$



Figure 1. Feynman diagrams in our LQ singlet-triplet model generating contributions to $b \to s\gamma$ and $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ at the 1-loop level. The left two diagrams show the matching contribution to the (chromo) magnetic operator. The diagram on the right, with an off-shell photon, is generating the mixing of $\mathcal{O}_{q}^{\tau\tau}$ into $\mathcal{O}_{q}^{\ell\ell}$.

with

$$\hat{U}^{f}(\mu_{l},\mu_{h}) = \begin{pmatrix} \eta^{\frac{16}{33-2f}} & \frac{8}{3} \left(\eta^{\frac{14}{33-2f}} - \eta^{\frac{16}{33-2f}} \right) \\ 0 & \eta^{\frac{14}{33-2f}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.6)

Here, f denotes the number of active quark flavors, $\mu_{h(l)}$ refers to the high (low) energy scale and

$$\eta = \frac{\alpha_s(\mu_h)}{\alpha_s(\mu_l)}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where α_s needs to be evaluated with the number of active flavors at a given scale as well.

Even though $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ can be induced at tree level in our model, there are still scenarios in which loop effects are phenomenologically important. As pointed out in ref. [82], the large couplings to tau leptons, needed to explain $b \to c\tau\nu$ data, also lead to huge Wilson coefficients $C_{9,sb}^{\tau\tau} = -C_{10,sb}^{\tau\tau}$. In turn, $\mathcal{O}_{9,sb}^{\tau\tau}$ mixes into $\mathcal{O}_{9,sb}^{\ell\ell}$ via the off-shell photon penguin [146], shown in the right diagram of figure 1. In our UV complete model, we cannot only calculate this mixing, but also the finite part of the effect, contained in the matching contribution

$$C_{9,jk}^{\ell\ell}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{216G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \left[\frac{\lambda_{kl} \lambda_{jl}^*}{M_1^2} + 3 \frac{\kappa_{kl} \kappa_{jl}^*}{M_3^2} \left(19 + 12 \log\left(\frac{\mu_{\rm LQ}^2}{M_3^2}\right) \right) \right].$$
(3.8)

This means that even if couplings to light leptons are absent at tree level, they are generated via loop effects in the presence of tau couplings. Since we will mainly focus on $b \to s$ transitions, we shorten our notation in the following and write $C_{7(8)}^{sb} \equiv C_{7(8)}, C_{9(10),sb}^{fi} \equiv$ $C_{9(10)}^{fi}$. The logarithm involving μ_{LQ} in eq. (3.8) originates from the fact that the rightdiagram in figure 1 is divergent. To get rid of this dependence one has to solve the RGE governing the mixing between \mathcal{O}_{9}^{ii} with different lepton flavors:

$$\mu \frac{\partial C_9^{ii}(\mu)}{\partial \mu} = \gamma C_9^{ff}(\mu) \qquad (f \neq i)$$
(3.9)

with $\gamma = \frac{2\alpha}{3\pi}$. Here, we do not take into account the running of α and do not consider the running of C_9^{ii} (i.e. just the mixing of O_9^{ii} into C_9^{jj} with $i \neq j$). This then has the solution

$$C_{9}^{ii}(\mu) = C_{9}^{ii}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) + \gamma \log\left(\frac{\mu}{\mu_{\rm LQ}}\right) C_{9}^{ff} \qquad (f \neq i) \,. \tag{3.10}$$

For *B* meson decays, this amounts to replacing the high scale μ_{LQ} in eq. (3.8) by the low scale of the processes μ_b . In addition, at the *B* meson scale, $\mathcal{O}_9^{\tau\tau}$ gives a q^2 dependent contribution to $C_{9,\text{eff}}^{\ell\ell}$, which however is numerically small [146] and currently not accessible with the SM independent fit. However, there are intriguing prospects that with improved future data this effect could be distinguished from the q^2 -independent C_9 effect [147].

QCD corrections to the matching of scalar LQs for semi-leptonic processes (both charged and neutral current) can be taken into account by applying the following shifts to the Wilson coefficients of vector (V), scalar (S) and tensor (T) operators [148]

$$C_V \to C_V \left(1 + \frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi} C_F \left(3l_\mu + \frac{17}{2} \right) \right) ,$$

$$C_S \to C_S \left(1 + \frac{3\alpha_s}{2\pi} C_F \right) ,$$

$$C_T \to C_T \left(1 + \frac{\alpha_s}{\pi} C_F \left(l_\mu + 2 \right) \right) ,$$

(3.11)

with $l_{\mu} = \log(\mu^2/M^2)$ (where *M* can be either M_1 or M_3) and $C_F = 4/3$ as the color factor. Since QCD is insensitive to flavor, electric charge and chirality, these corrections can be applied in a straightforward way to all other semi-leptonic processes, particularly to $b \to s\nu\bar{\nu}$ and $b \to c\tau\nu$.

Observables. As mentioned in the introduction, a main motivation for this anlysis is the explanation of the hints for NP in $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ data. In order to resolve this discrepancy between SM and experiment, an $\mathcal{O}(20\%)$ effect to $C_{9,10}$ is required compared to the SM contribution which is given by [149, 150]

$$C_9^{\rm SM}(4.8 \text{ GeV}) = 4.07,$$
 $C_{10}^{\rm SM}(4.8 \text{ GeV}) = -4.31.$ (3.12)

In a global fit one finds preference for scenarios like $C_9^{\mu\mu} = -C_{10}^{\mu\mu}$, as generated in our model at tree level. However, a $C_9^{\mu\mu} = -C_{10}^{\mu\mu}$ effect complemented by a LFU one in $C_9^{\ell\ell}$ gives an even better fit to data [122, 151]. As we will see, this is exactly the pattern that arises in our model, taking into account the loop effects discussed above.

For $b \to s\tau^+\tau^-$ transitions we have on the experimental side [152]

Br
$$[B_s \to \tau^+ \tau^-]_{exp} \le 6.8 \times 10^{-3} \quad (95\% \, \text{C.L.}).$$
 (3.13)

For $B_d \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ there is a (unpublished) measurement of BELLE [153] and an upper limit of LHCb [152]

Br
$$[B_d \to \tau^+ \tau^-]^{\text{BELLE}}_{\text{exp}} = (4.39^{+0.80}_{-0.83} \pm 0.45) \times 10^{-3},$$

Br $[B_d \to \tau^+ \tau^-]^{\text{LHCb}}_{\text{exp}} \le 2.1 \times 10^{-3}$ (95% C.L.). (3.14)

X	$q^2 [\text{GeV}^2]$	A_0	A_1	A_2	A_3	A_4	A_5
K	[15, 22]	$[15, 22]$ 1.20 ± 0.12		-0.42 ± 0.04	0.15 ± 0.01	0.15 ± 0.04	0.02
K^*	$[15, 19]$ 0.98 ± 0.09		0.38 ± 0.03	-0.14 ± 0.01 -0.30 ± 0.03		0.12	0.05
ϕ	$[15, 18.8]$ 0.86 ± 0.06		0.34 ± 0.02	-0.11	$-0.11 -0.28 \pm 0.02$		0.05
		•	A_6	A_7	A_8	A_9	A_{10}
			0.05 ± 0.01	0.02	0.05 ± 0.01	0.04	0.10 ± 0.01
			0.02	0.05 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	-0.08 ± 0.01	-0.03
			0.01	0.05	0.01 ± 0.02	-0.08	-0.02

Table 2. Numerical values for the coefficients given in eq. (3.17) for the different decay modes involving $b \to s\tau^+\tau^-$ transitions together with the corresponding q^2 ranges.

These measurements are compatible at the 2σ level. The SM predictions read [154, 155]

Br
$$[B_s \to \tau^+ \tau^-]_{\rm SM} = (7.73 \pm 0.49) \times 10^{-7},$$

Br $[B_d \to \tau^+ \tau^-]_{\rm SM} = (2.22 \pm 0.19) \times 10^{-8}.$ (3.15)

In our model we find

$$\frac{\text{Br}[B_s \to \tau^+ \tau^-]}{\text{Br}[B_s \to \tau^+ \tau^-]_{\text{SM}}} = \left| 1 + \frac{C_{10}^{\tau\tau}}{C_{10}^{\text{SM}}} \right|^2, \qquad (3.16)$$

and the analogous expression for $b \to d$ transitions. Also the branching ratios of semileptonic $b \to s\tau^+\tau^-$ processes can be expressed in terms of NP Wilson coefficients [156]

$$Br \Big[B_{(s)} \to X\tau^{+}\tau^{-} \Big] \times 10^{7} = A_{0}^{X} + A_{1}^{X}C_{9}^{\tau\tau} + A_{2}^{X}C_{10}^{\tau\tau} + A_{3}^{X}C_{9}^{\prime\tau\tau} + A_{4}^{X}C_{10}^{\prime\tau\tau} + A_{5}^{X}(C_{9}^{\tau\tau})^{2} + A_{6}^{X}(C_{10}^{\tau\tau})^{2} + A_{7}^{X}(C_{9}^{\prime\tau\tau})^{2} + A_{8}^{X}(C_{10}^{\prime\tau\tau})^{2} + A_{9}^{X}C_{9}^{\tau\tau}C_{9}^{\prime\tau\tau} + A_{10}^{X}C_{10}^{\tau\tau}C_{10}^{\prime\tau\tau} .$$

$$(3.17)$$

These branching ratios together with the corresponding coefficients are shown in table 2.

Turning to $b \to s\tau\mu$ transitions, we have [157]

$$Br[B \to K\tau^{\pm}\mu^{\mp}] = 10^{-9} \left[9.6 \left(|C_9^{\mu\tau}|^2 + |C_9^{\tau\mu}|^2 \right) + 10 \left(|C_{10}^{\mu\tau}|^2 + |C_{10}^{\tau\mu}|^2 \right) \right], \qquad (3.18)$$

and

$$Br\left[\bar{B}_{s} \to \ell_{f}^{-}\ell_{i}^{+}\right] = \frac{G_{F}^{2}\alpha^{2}}{64\pi^{3}} \left|V_{tb}V_{ts}^{*}\right|^{2} f_{B_{s}}^{2} \tau_{B_{s}} m_{B_{s}}(m_{\ell_{i}} + m_{\ell_{f}})^{2} \eta(x_{i}, x_{f}) \\
\times \left[\left|C_{10}^{fi} - C_{10}^{\prime fi}\right|^{2} \left(1 - (x_{i} - x_{f})^{2}\right) + \left|\frac{m_{\ell_{i}} - m_{\ell_{f}}}{m_{\ell_{i}} + m_{\ell_{f}}} \left(C_{9}^{fi} - C_{9}^{\prime fi}\right)\right|^{2} \left(1 - (x_{i} + x_{f})^{2}\right) \right], \quad (3.19)$$

with $x_k = m_{\ell_k}/m_{B_s}$ and

$$\eta(x,y) = \sqrt{1 - 2(x+y) + (x-y)^2} \,. \tag{3.20}$$

We neglected the contributions of (pseudo-)scalar operators, since they do not appear in our model. The relevant experimental limits are [158, 159]

$$Br[B \to K\tau^{\pm}\mu^{\mp}]_{exp} \le 4.8 \times 10^{-5},$$

$$Br[B_s \to \tau^{\pm}\mu^{\mp}]_{exp} \le 4.2 \times 10^{-5}.$$
(3.21)

 $d\bar{d}\ell\ell$ operators contribute to $\tau \to \phi\mu$ as well. This gives relevant constraints on the parameter space of our model. We use the result of ref. [73] and obtain

$$\operatorname{Br}\left[\tau \to \phi\mu\right] = \frac{f_{\phi}^2 m_{\tau}^3 \tau_{\tau}}{128\pi} \frac{|\kappa_{22}\kappa_{23}^*|^2}{M_3^4} \left(1 - \frac{m_{\phi}^2}{m_{\tau}^2}\right)^2 \left(1 + 2\frac{m_{\phi}^2}{m_{\tau}^2}\right), \qquad (3.22)$$

which has to be compared to the current experimental limit of [160]

Br
$$[\tau \to \phi \mu] < 8.4 \times 10^{-8}$$
 (90% C.L.). (3.23)

3.2 $dd\nu\nu$ processes

To describe $d_k \to d_i \nu_f \bar{\nu}_i$ processes we use the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{dd\nu\nu} = -\frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^* \left(C_{L,jk}^{fi} \mathcal{O}_{L,jk}^{fi} + C_{R,jk}^{fi} \mathcal{O}_{R,jk}^{fi} \right) ,$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{L(R),jk}^{fi} = \frac{\alpha}{4\pi} \left[\bar{d}_j \gamma^{\mu} P_{L(R)} d_k \right] \left[\bar{\nu}_f \gamma_{\mu} \left(1 - \gamma_5 \right) \nu_i \right] .$$
 (3.24)

At tree level we find contributions from Φ_1 and Φ_3 resulting in

$$C_{L,jk}^{fi} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \frac{\pi}{\alpha} \left[\frac{\lambda_{ki} \lambda_{jf}^*}{M_1^2} + \frac{\kappa_{ki} \kappa_{jf}^*}{M_3^2} \right].$$
(3.25)

Since these processes are generated at tree level, we do not need to calculate loop effects, which would only amount to numerically small corrections. Again, we simplify the notation for $b \to s$ transitions, writing $C_{L,sb}^{fi} \equiv C_L^{fi}$. The QCD matching corrections are given in eq. (3.11) and there is no QCD evolution of these operators.

Observables. For $B \to K^{(*)}\nu\bar{\nu}$ we follow ref. [161] and use $C_L^{\text{SM}} \approx -1.47/s_w^2$. The branching ratios normalized to the SM read

$$R_{K^{(*)}}^{\nu\bar{\nu}} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{f,i=1}^{3} \frac{\left|C_L^{\text{SM}} \delta_{fi} + C_L^{fi}\right|^2}{\left|C_L^{\text{SM}}\right|^2}.$$
(3.26)

This has to be compared to the current experimental limits $R_K^{\nu\bar{\nu}} < 3.9$ and $R_{K^*}^{\nu\bar{\nu}} < 2.7$ [162] (both at 90% C.L.). The expected BELLE II sensitivity for $B \to K^{(*)}\nu\bar{\nu}$ is 30% of the SM branching ratio [163].

3.3 $du\ell\nu$ processes

For the charged current semi-leptonic processes we define the effective Hamiltonian as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{du\ell\nu} = \frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} V_{jk} \left(C_{VL,jk}^{fi} \left[\bar{u}_j \gamma^{\mu} P_L d_k \right] \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma_{\mu} P_L \nu_i \right] + C_{SL,jk}^{fi} \left[\bar{u}_j P_L d_k \right] \left[\bar{\ell}_f P_L \nu_i \right] + C_{TL,jk}^{fi} \left[\bar{u}_j \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_L d_k \right] \left[\bar{\ell}_f \sigma_{\mu\nu} \nu_i \right] \right),$$
(3.27)

where in the SM $C_{VL}^{\text{SM}} = 1$. The contribution of our model to the SM Wilson coefficient from Φ_1 and Φ_3 is given by

$$C_{VL,jk}^{fi} = \frac{-\sqrt{2}}{8G_F V_{jk}} \left[-\frac{V_{jl} \lambda_{lf}^* \lambda_{ki}}{M_1^2} + \frac{V_{jl} \kappa_{lf}^* \kappa_{ki}}{M_3^2} \right] , \qquad (3.28)$$

while scalar and tensor operators are generated by Φ_1 only

$$C_{SL,jk}^{fi} = -4C_{TL,jk}^{fi} = \frac{-\sqrt{2}}{8G_F V_{jk}} \frac{\lambda_{ki} \lambda_{jf}^*}{M_1^2} \,. \tag{3.29}$$

Since we are mainly interested in $b \rightarrow c$ transitions, we abbreviate

$$C_{VL,cb}^{fi} \equiv C_{VL}^{fi}, \qquad C_{SL,cb}^{fi} \equiv C_{SL}^{fi}, \qquad C_{TL,cb}^{fi} \equiv C_{TL}^{fi}.$$
 (3.30)

Again, the QCD matching corrections are given in eq. (3.11). We also include the 2-loop QCD and the 1-loop EW RGE. Using the results of ref. [164], we have

$$C_{VL}^{fi}(\mu_b) = C_{VL}^{fi}(1 \text{ TeV}),$$

$$C_{SR}^{fi}(\mu_b) = 1.737 \ C_{SR}^{fi}(1 \text{ TeV}),$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} C_{SL}^{fi}(\mu_b) \\ C_{TL}^{fi}(\mu_b) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1.752 \ -0.287 \\ -0.004 \ 0.842 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} C_{SL}^{fi}(1 \text{ TeV}) \\ C_{TL}^{fi}(1 \text{ TeV}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.31)

Observables. With these conventions, the ratios $R(D^{(*)})$ are given by [165]

$$\frac{R(D)}{R(D)_{\rm SM}} \simeq \left|1 + C_{VL}^{\tau\tau}\right|^2 + 1.54 \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(1 + C_{VL}^{\tau\tau}\right)C_{SL}^{\tau\tau*}\right] + 1.09 \left|C_{SL}^{\tau\tau}\right|^2 \\
+ 1.04 \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(1 + C_{VL}^{\tau\tau}\right)C_{TL}^{\tau\tau*}\right] + 0.75 \left|C_{TL}^{\tau\tau}\right|^2, \\
\frac{R(D^*)}{R(D^*)_{\rm SM}} \simeq \left|1 + C_{VL}^{\tau\tau}\right| - 0.13 \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(1 + C_{VL}^{\tau\tau}\right)C_{SL}^{\tau\tau*}\right] + 0.05 \left|C_{SL}^{\tau\tau}\right|^2 \\
- 5.0 \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(1 + C_{VL}^{\tau\tau}\right)C_{TL}^{\tau\tau*}\right] + 16.27 \left|C_{TL}^{\tau\tau}\right|^2, \\$$
(3.32)

in terms of the Wilson coefficients given at the *B* meson scale. Furthermore, the branching ratio of $B_c \rightarrow \tau \nu$ reads [165, 166]

$$Br[B_c \to \tau\nu] = 0.02 \left(\frac{f_{B_c}}{0.43 \,\text{GeV}}\right)^2 \left|1 + C_{VL}^{\tau\tau} + 4.3 \left(C_{SR}^{\tau\tau} - C_{SL}^{\tau\tau}\right)\right|^2.$$
(3.33)

In this work we use the most stringent limit of ref. [167]

$$Br[B_c \to \tau \nu] \le 0.1, \qquad (3.34)$$

even though this bound might be too restrictive (see refs. [67, 167] for theoretical discussions). However, we will see that even this limit does not constrain our model significantly.

A further constraint comes from the determination of the CKM element V_{cb} when comparing electron and muon final states. Here ref. [168] finds that

$$\frac{V_{cb}^{e}}{\tilde{V}_{cb}^{\mu}} = 1.011 \pm 0.012\,, \tag{3.35}$$

where

$$\tilde{V}_{cb}^{\ell} = V_{cb} \left[\left| 1 + C_{VL}^{\ell \ell} \right|^2 + \sum_{\ell \neq \ell'} \left| C_{VL}^{\ell \ell'} \right|^2 \right]^{1/2}.$$
(3.36)

For observables including first and second generation quarks such as $\tau \to \pi \nu$, $K \to \mu \nu/K \to e \nu$ or *D* decays, the Wilson coefficients can be applied using appropriate indices. The corresponding formulas and analyses can be found e.g. in refs. [52, 169].

3.4 $\Delta F = 2$ processes

Dealing with $\Delta F = 2$ processes, concretely $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing, we use the effective Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{BB} = C_1 \left[\bar{s}_{\alpha} \gamma_{\mu} P_L b_{\alpha} \right] \left[\bar{s}_{\beta} \gamma^{\mu} P_L b_{\beta} \right] \,. \tag{3.37}$$

In our model we obtain

$$C_{1} = \frac{-1}{128\pi^{2}} \left(\lambda_{2i}^{*} \lambda_{3j} \lambda_{2j}^{*} \lambda_{3i} C_{0} \left(0, M_{1}^{2}, M_{1}^{2} \right) + 5\kappa_{2i}^{*} \kappa_{3j} \kappa_{2j}^{*} \kappa_{3i} C_{0} \left(0, M_{3}^{2}, M_{3}^{2} \right) + 2\lambda_{2j}^{*} \lambda_{3i} \kappa_{2i}^{*} \kappa_{3j} C_{0} \left(0, M_{1}^{2}, M_{3}^{2} \right) \right)$$

$$(3.38)$$

at the high scale μ_{LQ} . Here the first term originates only from Φ_1 and the second one only from Φ_3 . The last term originates from a box diagram where both LQ representations contribute. One of the corresponding Feynman diagram is shown in figure 2. The formula for B_d and Kaon mixing follow trivially. We can write the mass difference Δm_{B_s} (including NP) normalized to the SM one as

$$\frac{\Delta m_{B_s}}{\Delta m_{B_s}^{\rm SM}} = \left| 1 + \frac{C_1}{C_1^{\rm SM}} \right| \,, \tag{3.39}$$

with [170]

$$C_1^{\rm SM} = 2.35 \frac{\left(V_{tb} V_{ts}^* G_F m_W\right)^2}{4\pi^2} \tag{3.40}$$

given at the high scale. Since both the SM and LQ contribute to C_1 , the QCD running down to μ_b is the same for both and therefore cancels in eq. (3.39), neglecting the evolution from μ_{LQ} to the EW scale.

Observables. $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing has been measured to very good precision [171] and the current world average reads [172]

$$\Delta m_{B_s}^{\text{exp}} = (17.757 \pm 0.021) \times 10^{12} \,\text{s}^{-1} \,. \tag{3.41}$$

The theoretical prediction suffers strongly from the uncertainties in QCD effects. While ref. [173] and ref. [174] fit well to the measurement (with rather large errors)

$$\Delta m_{B_s}^{\rm SM} = (18.3 \pm 2.7) \times 10^{12} \,\mathrm{s}^{-1} \,. \tag{3.42}$$

Ref. [175] obtains a larger SM value

$$\Delta m_{B_s}^{\rm SM} = (20.01 \pm 1.25) \times 10^{12} \,\mathrm{s}^{-1} \,. \tag{3.43}$$

The bounds on the imaginary part of the Wilson coefficient is even more stringent. In our phenomenological anlysis we will assume real couplings and allow for NP effects of up to 20% with respect to the SM prediction.



Figure 2. Left: LQ boxes contributing to $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing. Middle and right: Loop diagrams induced by Φ_1 , generating effects in $\ell_i \to \ell_f \gamma$. In case of a top quark, as depicted, a chirally enhanced term can arise.

3.5 $\ell\ell\gamma$ processes

In case of charged lepton interactions with on-shell photons we define

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{\ell\ell\gamma} = C_{\ell_f\ell_i}^L O_{\ell_f\ell_i}^L + C_{\ell_f\ell_i}^R O_{\ell_f\ell_i}^R \,, \tag{3.44}$$

with

$$O_{\ell_f \ell_i}^{L(R)} = \frac{e}{16\pi^2} \left[\bar{\ell}_f \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{L(R)} \ell_i \right] F_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.45}$$

We obtain the following matching contribution in case of a top quark in the loop

$$C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L} = -\frac{m_{\ell_{f}}\lambda_{3f}^{*}\lambda_{3i} + m_{\ell_{i}}\hat{\lambda}_{3f}^{*}\hat{\lambda}_{3i}}{8M_{1}^{2}} + \frac{m_{t}\hat{\lambda}_{3f}^{*}V_{3k}^{*}\lambda_{ki}}{4M_{1}^{2}}\left(7 + 4\log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right)\right) + \frac{3m_{\ell_{f}}\kappa_{3f}^{*}\kappa_{3i}}{8M_{3}^{2}}$$

$$(3.46)$$

from the Feynman diagram given in figure 2 with $N_c = 3$ already included. Note that we have $C_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R = C_{\ell_i \ell_f}^{L*}$ due to the hermiticity of the Hamiltonian. Here we quoted explicitly the formula for the top quark, which we integrated out together with the LQ at the scale $M \approx M_1 \approx M_3$. In case of light quarks, some comments concerning the use of eq. (3.46) are in order: in principle, one has to integrate out only the LQ at the scale M but keep the quark as a dynamical degree of freedom. In this way, the matching contribution to $C_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L$ acquires an infrared divergence, which is cancelled by the corresponding UV divergence of the contribution of the tensor operator,⁷ obtained by integrating out the LQ at tree level. This amounts to a replacement of m_t by μ_{LQ} in the logarithm in eq. (3.46). Now, at the low scale, the solution to the RGE (disregarding QED effects) leads to a replacement of μ_{LQ} by the scale of the processes, or by the quark mass in case this mass is bigger than the scale. Therefore, in the case of light quarks, eq. (3.46) can be considered as an effective Wilson coefficient at the low scale, which includes the effect of 4-fermion operators (up to QED corrections) and can therefore be used for the numerical evaluation.

Considering $\ell_i \to \ell_f$ transition with an off-shell photon, we define the amplitude

$$\mathcal{A}(\ell_i \to \ell_f \gamma^*) = -eq^2 \,\bar{\ell}_f(p_f) \, \notin^*(q^2) \left(\widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^L P_L + \widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^R P_R + \delta_{fi} \right) \ell_i(p_i) \tag{3.47}$$

⁷See section A.3 for the matching to the $uu\gamma$ and $uu\ell\ell$ operators.

with

$$\widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{L} = \frac{-N_{c}}{576\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{V_{jk}\lambda_{kf}^{*}V_{jl}^{*}\lambda_{li}}{M_{1}^{2}} F\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right) + \frac{V_{jk}\kappa_{kf}^{*}V_{jl}^{*}\kappa_{li}}{M_{3}^{2}} F\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{M_{3}^{2}}\right) + \frac{2\kappa_{jf}^{*}\kappa_{ji}}{M_{3}^{2}}G\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{M_{3}^{2}}\right) \right),$$

$$\widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{R} = \frac{-N_{c}}{576\pi^{2}} \frac{\hat{\lambda}_{jf}^{*}\hat{\lambda}_{ji}}{M_{1}^{2}} F\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right),$$
(3.48)

where

$$F(y) = \frac{y^3 - 18y^2 + 27y - 10 + 2(y^3 + 6y - 4)\log(y)}{(y - 1)^4},$$

$$G(y) = \frac{-17y^3 + 36y^2 - 27y + 8 + (8y^3 - 6y + 4)\log(y)}{(y - 1)^4}.$$
(3.49)

Observables. We can now express the branching ratios of flavor changing radiative lepton decays in terms of the Wilson coefficients as

$$\operatorname{Br}\left[\ell_{i} \to \ell_{f}\gamma\right] = \frac{\alpha m_{\ell_{i}}^{3}}{256\pi^{4}} \tau_{\ell_{i}} \left(\left|C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L}\right|^{2} + \left|C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R}\right|^{2}\right), \qquad (3.50)$$

where τ_{ℓ_i} is the life time of the initial state lepton. The AMM of a charged lepton ℓ_i is given by

$$a_{\ell_i} = -\frac{m_{\ell_i}}{4\pi^2} \operatorname{Re}\left[C^R_{\ell_i\ell_i}\right].$$
(3.51)

The expression for the electric dipole moment of the lepton is quite similar to the one for the AMM, namely

$$d_{\ell_i} = -\frac{e}{8\pi^2} \operatorname{Im}\left[C^R_{\ell_i\ell_i}\right]. \tag{3.52}$$

In case of the AMM of the muon we already discussed the experimental situation in the introduction. In summary, the difference between the experiment and the SM prediction is

$$\delta a_{\mu} = (278 \pm 88) \times 10^{-11} \, .$$

corresponding to a 3.5σ deviation. Note that in our case the Wilson coefficient is in general complex and could therefore lead to sizable EDMs [35].

The current limits for radiative LFV decays are [176, 177]

$$Br[\mu \to e\gamma] < 4.2 \times 10^{-13},$$

$$Br[\tau \to e\gamma] < 3.3 \times 10^{-8},$$

$$Br[\tau \to \mu\gamma] < 4.4 \times 10^{-8},$$

(3.53)

representing relevant constraints for our analysis.

The off-shell photon penguins contribute to processes like $\tau \to 3\mu$ which we will consider later.



Figure 3. Feynman diagrams in our singlet-triplet model contributing to $Z \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$ and $Z \to \nu_f \bar{\nu}_i$ processes.

3.6 $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$ processes

In this subsection we compute the amplitudes for $Z \to \ell_i^- \ell_f^+$ and $Z \to \nu_f \bar{\nu}_i$ processes for massless leptons. At zero momentum transfer (or equivalently vanishing Z mass), these amplitudes are directly related to effective $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$ couplings, which will enter flavor observables like for example in $\tau \to 3\mu$. We write the amplitude in an analogous way to the case with the off-shell photon

$$\mathcal{A}(Z \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+) = \frac{g}{c_w} \bar{u}(p_f, m_{\ell_f}) \gamma_\mu \left(\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L (q^2) P_L + \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R (q^2) \right) v(p_i, m_{\ell_i}) \varepsilon^\mu(q) ,$$

$$\mathcal{A}(Z \to \nu_f \bar{\nu}_i) = \frac{g_2}{c_w} \Sigma_{\nu_f \nu_i} (q^2) \bar{u}(p_f) \gamma_\mu P_L v(p_i) \varepsilon^\mu(q) ,$$
(3.54)

where ε^{μ} is the polarization vector of the Z and

$$\Lambda_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L(R)}(q^{2}) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{L(R)}(q^{2})\delta_{fi} + \Delta_{fi}^{L(R)}(q^{2}), \quad \Sigma_{\nu_{f}\nu_{i}}(q^{2}) = \Sigma_{\rm SM}(q^{2})\delta_{fi} + \Sigma_{fi}^{\rm LQ}(q^{2}). \quad (3.55)$$

At tree-level the SM couplings read

$$\Lambda_{\rm SM}^L = \left(\frac{1}{2} - s_w^2\right), \qquad \Lambda_{\rm SM}^R = -s_w^2, \qquad \Sigma_{\rm SM} = -\frac{1}{2}, \qquad (3.56)$$

with s_w being the Weinberg angle. Beyond tree-level, the SM coefficients receive momentum dependent corrections which are included in the predictions for EW observables. The corresponding Feynman diagrams, generating these amplitudes in our model, are depicted in figure 3. For the calculation we include the up-type quark masses (which become relevant in case of the top) and the Z mass up to the order $m_u^2/M_{\rm LQ}^2$ and $m_Z^2/M_{\rm LQ}^2$, respectively. In this setup we obtain

$$\Delta_{fi}^{L}(q^{2}) = V_{jk}\lambda_{kf}^{*}V_{jl}^{*}\lambda_{li}\mathcal{F}_{L}\left(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, q^{2}, M_{1}^{2}\right) + V_{jk}\kappa_{kf}^{*}V_{jl}^{*}\kappa_{li}\mathcal{F}_{L}\left(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, q^{2}, M_{3}^{2}\right) + 2\kappa_{jf}^{*}\kappa_{ji}\mathcal{G}_{L}\left(q^{2}, M_{3}^{2}\right),$$

$$\Delta_{fi}^{R}(q^{2}) = \hat{\lambda}_{jf}^{*}\hat{\lambda}_{ji}\mathcal{F}_{R}\left(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, q^{2}, M_{1}^{2}\right),$$

$$\Sigma_{fi}^{LQ}(q^{2}) = \lambda_{jf}^{*}\lambda_{ji}\mathcal{H}_{1}\left(q^{2}, M_{1}^{2}\right) + \kappa_{jf}^{*}\kappa_{ji}\mathcal{H}_{1}\left(q^{2}, M_{3}^{2}\right) + 2V_{jk}\kappa_{kf}^{*}V_{jl}^{*}\kappa_{li}\mathcal{H}_{2}\left(m_{u_{j}}^{2}, q^{2}, M_{3}^{2}\right).$$

$$(3.57)$$

The corresponding loop functions $\mathcal{F}_{L,R}$, \mathcal{G}_L and $\mathcal{H}_{1,2}$ are given in eq. (A.17) and eq. (A.22). In case of Z decays we have $q^2 = m_Z^2$. For the effective $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$ couplings (at zero momentum transfer), we define

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}^{Z\ell\ell} = \frac{g_2}{c_w} \left[\bar{\ell}_f \left(\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(0) \gamma_\mu P_L + \Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R(0) \gamma_\mu P_R \right) \ell_i \right] Z^\mu ,$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}^{Z\nu\nu} = \frac{g_2}{c_w} \Sigma_{\nu_f \nu_i}(0) \left[\bar{\nu}_f \gamma_\mu P_L \nu_i \right] Z^\mu .$$
(3.58)

In this case, only the top contribution is relevant and the effective couplings become

$$\Lambda_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L}(0) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{L}(0)\delta_{fi} \\
+ \frac{N_{c}m_{t}^{2}}{32\pi^{2}} \left(\frac{V_{3k}\lambda_{kf}^{*}V_{3l}^{*}\lambda_{li}}{M_{1}^{2}} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right) \right) + \frac{V_{3k}\kappa_{kf}^{*}V_{3l}^{*}\kappa_{li}}{M_{3}^{2}} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{3}^{2}}\right) \right) \right), \\
\Lambda_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R}(0) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{R}(0)\delta_{fi} - \frac{N_{c}m_{t}^{2}}{32\pi^{2}} \frac{\hat{\lambda}_{3f}^{*}\hat{\lambda}_{3i}}{M_{1}^{2}} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right) \right), \\
\Sigma_{\nu_{f}\nu_{i}}(0) = \Sigma_{\rm SM}(0)\delta_{fi} + \frac{N_{c}m_{t}^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} \frac{V_{3k}\kappa_{kf}^{*}V_{3l}^{*}\kappa_{li}}{M_{3}^{2}} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{M_{3}^{2}}\right) \right).$$
(3.59)

Note that $Z \to \ell_i^- \ell_f^+$ has also been considered in ref. [178].

Observables. The branching ratio of a Z decaying into a charged lepton pair reads

$$\operatorname{Br}\left[Z \to \ell_f^- \ell_i^+\right] = \frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{m_Z^3}{3\pi} \frac{1}{\Gamma_{\text{tot}}(1+\delta_{fi})} \left(\left|\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^L(m_Z^2)\right|^2 + \left|\Lambda_{\ell_f \ell_i}^R(m_Z^2)\right|^2 \right), \quad (3.60)$$

with $\Gamma_{\rm tot} \approx 2.5 \,{\rm GeV}$. The case for a pair of neutrinos in the final state follows trivially. The effective number of active neutrinos, including the corrections in our model, are given by

$$N_{\nu} = \sum_{f,i} \left| \delta_{fi} + \frac{\Sigma_{fi}^{\text{LQ}}(m_Z^2)}{\Sigma_{\text{SM}}(m_Z^2)} \right|^2.$$
(3.61)

At LEP [179] the lepton flavor conserving Z boson couplings were measured precisely. We give the experimental results for each flavor separately

$$\Lambda_{\exp}^{Le}(m_Z^2) = 0.26963 \pm 0.00030, \quad \Lambda_{\exp}^{Re}(m_Z^2) = -0.23148 \pm 0.00029,
\Lambda_{\exp}^{L\mu}(m_Z^2) = 0.2689 \pm 0.0011, \quad \Lambda_{\exp}^{R\mu}(m_Z^2) = -0.2323 \pm 0.0013,
\Lambda_{\exp}^{L\tau}(m_Z^2) = 0.26930 \pm 0.00058, \quad \Lambda_{\exp}^{R\tau}(m_Z^2) = -0.23274 \pm 0.00062,
\Sigma_{\exp}^{L\nu}(m_Z^2) = -0.5003 \pm 0.0012.$$
(3.62)

The SM predictions at the Z pole are

$$\Lambda_{\rm SM}^{Le}(m_Z^2) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{L\mu}(m_Z^2) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{L\tau}(m_Z^2) = 0.26919 \pm 0.00020 ,$$

$$\Lambda_{\rm SM}^{Re}(m_Z^2) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{R\mu}(m_Z^2) = \Lambda_{\rm SM}^{R\tau}(m_Z^2) = -0.23208^{+0.00016}_{-0.00018} ,$$

$$\Sigma_{\rm SM}^{L\nu}(m_Z^2) = -0.50199^{+0.00017}_{-0.00020} .$$
(3.63)

Concerning lepton flavor violating Z decays the limits from LEP are [180-182]

Br
$$[Z \to e^{\pm} \mu^{\mp}] \le 7.5 \times 10^{-7}$$
,
Br $[Z \to e^{\pm} \tau^{\mp}] \le 9.8 \times 10^{-6}$,
Br $[Z \to \mu^{\pm} \tau^{\mp}] \le 1.2 \times 10^{-5}$. (3.64)



Figure 4. Feynman diagrams contributing to $W^- \to \ell_f^- \bar{\nu}_i$. The right diagram is only present for the triplet since the singlet does not couple to the W boson (at tree-level).

From $Z \to \nu \bar{\nu}$ one can determine the number of active neutrinos to be [179]

$$N_{\nu} = 2.9840 \pm 0.0082 \,. \tag{3.65}$$

As mentioned before, $Z\ell\ell$ couplings (at zero momentum transfer) contribute to processes like $\tau \to 3\mu$. Furthermore, $Z\ell\ell$ couplings in Z decays can be measured much more precisely at an FCC-ee which could produce more than 10^{11} Z bosons [183].

3.7 $W\ell\nu$ processes

Computing the amplitude of this process (also considered in ref. [178]), we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}(W^- \to \ell_f^- \bar{\nu}_i) = -\frac{g_2}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda^W_{\ell_f \nu_i} (q^2) \bar{u}(p_{\ell_f}, m_{\ell_f}) \gamma_\mu P_L u(p_{\nu_i}) \varepsilon^\mu(q) , \qquad (3.66)$$

where

$$\Lambda^W_{\ell_f \nu_i}(q^2) = \Lambda^W_{\rm SM}(q^2)\delta_{fi} + \Lambda^{\rm LQ}_{fi}(q^2).$$
(3.67)

At tree level in the SM we have $\Lambda^W_{SM}(q^2) = 1$. The Feynman diagrams shown in figure 4 result in

$$\Lambda_{fi}^{LQ}(q^2) = \frac{N_c}{288\pi^2} \left[V_{jk} \lambda_{kf}^* V_{jl} \lambda_{li} \mathcal{F}_1\left(m_{u_j}^2, q^2, M_1^2\right) + V_{jk} \kappa_{kf}^* V_{jl} \kappa_{li} \mathcal{F}_2\left(m_{u_j}^2, q^2, M_3^2\right) + \frac{8\kappa_{jf}^* \kappa_{ji} q^2}{9M_3^2} \right],$$
(3.68)

with the loop functions $\mathcal{F}_{1,2}$ given in eq. (A.29). Again, we set all down-type quark masses to zero but included the up-type quark masses, which are relevant for the top. At the level of effective couplings, we define the Lagraigian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm int}^{W\ell\nu} = -\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda^W_{\ell_f \nu_i}(0) \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma^\mu P_L \nu_i \right] W^-_\mu \,. \tag{3.69}$$

The LQ contribution then reads

$$\Lambda_{ji}^{\mathrm{LQ}}(0) = \frac{N_c m_t^2}{64\pi^2} \left[\frac{V_{3l} \lambda_{lj}^* V_{3k}^* \lambda_{ki}}{M_1^2} \left(1 + 2\log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_1^2}\right) \right) - \frac{V_{3l} \kappa_{lj}^* V_{3k}^* \kappa_{ki}}{M_3^2} \left(1 + 2\log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M_3^2}\right) \right) \right].$$
(3.70)

Out of this formula one deduces a destructive interference between the contribution of the singlet and the triplet in case of lepton flavor conservation.

Observables. Experimentally, the modification of the $W\tau\nu$ coupling extracted from $\tau \rightarrow \mu\nu\bar{\nu}$ and $\tau \rightarrow e\nu\bar{\nu}$ decays reads [172, 184]

$$\left|\Lambda_{\tau\nu}^{W}(0)\right|_{\exp} \approx 1.002 \pm 0.0015$$
 (3.71)

and provides a better constraint than data of W decays. Here we averaged the central values of the muon and tau mode, but did not add the errors in quadrature in order to be conservative. We see that a positive NP effect is preferred which means that the triplet contribution should exceed the one of the singlet.

3.8 4ℓ processes

We define the effective Hamiltonian as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{4\ell} = \mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{\ell\ell\gamma} + \sum_{a,b,f,i} \left(C_{abfi}^{VLL} O_{abfi}^{VLL} + C_{abfi}^{VLR} O_{abfi}^{VLR} + C_{abfi}^{SLL} O_{abfi}^{SLL} \right) + L \leftrightarrow R , \qquad (3.72)$$

with

$$O_{abfi}^{V LL} = \left[\bar{\ell}_a \gamma^{\mu} P_L \ell_b\right] \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma_{\mu} P_L \ell_i\right] ,$$

$$O_{abfi}^{V LR} = \left[\bar{\ell}_a \gamma^{\mu} P_L \ell_b\right] \left[\bar{\ell}_f \gamma_{\mu} P_R \ell_i\right] ,$$

$$O_{abfi}^{S LL} = \left[\bar{\ell}_a P_L \ell_b\right] \left[\bar{\ell}_f P_L \ell_i\right] .$$
(3.73)

Here we sum over flavor indices. In this way, no distinction for the cases of equal flavors are necessary in the matching and tensor and scalar LR operators do not need to be included since they follow from Fierz identities.

The photon contribution reads

$$C_{abfi}^{V\,LL} = -\pi\alpha \left(\Xi_{ab}^{L} \Xi_{fi}^{L} + \Xi_{ai}^{L} \Xi_{fb}^{L} \right) ,$$

$$C_{abfi}^{V\,LR} = -4\pi\alpha \Xi_{ab}^{L} \Xi_{fi}^{R} ,$$
(3.74)

where

$$\Xi_{fi}^{L(R)} = \delta_{fi} + \widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{L(R)} \,. \tag{3.75}$$

The effective photon off-shell couplings $\widehat{\Xi}_{fi}^{L(R)}$ are defined in eq. (3.48). Using the effective couplings defined in eq. (3.55), the Z penguins give

$$C_{abfi}^{V\,LL} = \frac{2G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\Lambda_{ab}^L(0) \Lambda_{fi}^L(0) + \Lambda_{fb}^L(0) \Lambda_{ai}^L(0) \right),$$

$$C_{abfi}^{V\,LR} = \frac{8G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda_{ab}^L(0) \Lambda_{fi}^R(0).$$
(3.76)

Note that $C_{abfi}^{VRL(RR)}$ are obtained from $C_{abfi}^{VLR(LL)}$ by interchanging L and R for both the photon and the Z contribution. Finally, we have contributions from box diagrams involving two LQs. Since they turn out to be numerically irrelevant in our model, we omit to list them here analytically. However, in eq. (A.30) we give the results in full generality, i.e.



Figure 5. Feynman diagrams contributing to $\ell_i \to \ell_f \ell_a \ell_b$. Left and centre: Penguin diagrams with Z boson and photon exchange. Right: Box diagram involving two LQs.

including LQ mixing with multiple generations. The LQ contributions are depicted in figure 5.

The expression for the branching ratios, which are in agreement with ref. [185], read

$$\operatorname{Br}\left[\tau^{\mp} \to \mu^{\mp} e^{+} e^{-}\right] = \frac{m_{\tau}^{3}}{768\pi^{3}\Gamma_{\tau}^{\text{tot}}} \left[\frac{\alpha^{2}}{\pi^{2}} |C_{\mu\tau}^{L}|^{2} \left(\log\left(\frac{m_{\tau}^{2}}{m_{e}^{2}}\right) - 3\right) + \frac{m_{\tau}^{2}}{8} \left(4|C_{\mu\tau ee}^{SLL}|^{2} + 4|C_{\mu ee\tau}^{SLL}|^{2} - 4\operatorname{Re}\left[C_{\mu\tau ee}^{SLL}C_{\mu ee\tau}^{SLL*}\right] + 64|C_{\mu\tau ee}^{VLL}|^{2} + 4|C_{\mu\tau ee}^{VLR}|^{2} + 4|C_{\mu ee\tau}^{VLR}|^{2}\right) - \frac{\alpha}{\pi}m_{\tau}\operatorname{Re}\left[C_{\mu\tau}^{L*}\left(C_{\mu\tau ee}^{VRL} + 4C_{\mu\tau ee}^{VRR}\right)\right] + L \leftrightarrow R\right]$$
(3.77)

and

$$\operatorname{Br}\left[\tau^{\mp} \to \mu^{\mp} \mu^{+} \mu^{-}\right] = \frac{m_{\tau}^{3}}{768\pi^{3}\Gamma_{\tau}^{\text{tot}}} \left[\frac{\alpha^{2}}{\pi^{2}} |C_{\mu\tau}^{L}|^{2} \left(\log\left(\frac{m_{\tau}^{2}}{m_{\mu}^{2}}\right) - \frac{11}{4}\right) + \frac{m_{\tau}^{2}}{16} \left(4 |C_{\mu\mu\mu\mu\tau}^{SLL}|^{2} + 64 |C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu\mu}^{VLL}|^{2} + 4 |C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu\mu}^{VLR}|^{2} + 4 |C_{\mu\mu\mu\mu\tau}^{VLR}|^{2}\right) - \frac{\alpha}{\pi} m_{\tau} \operatorname{Re}\left[C_{\mu\tau}^{L*} \left(C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu}^{VRL} + 4C_{\mu\tau\mu\mu}^{VRR}\right)\right] + L \leftrightarrow R\right]$$
(3.78)

with $\Gamma_{\tau}^{\text{tot}}$ as the tau lepton's total decay width. The experimental bounds are [186, 187]

Br
$$[\tau^{\mp} \to \mu^{\mp} e^{+} e^{-}] < 1.5 \times 10^{-8}$$
,
Br $[\tau^{\mp} \to \mu^{\mp} \mu^{+} \mu^{-}] < 2.1 \times 10^{-8}$,
Br $[\mu^{\mp} \to e^{\mp} e^{+} e^{-}] < 1.0 \times 10^{-12}$.
(3.79)

3.9 $\ell\ell\nu\nu$ processes

We define the effective Hamiltonian as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{2\ell 2\nu} = \left(D_{\ell_a \ell_b}^{L,fi} O_{\ell_a \ell_b}^{L,fi} + D_{\ell_a \ell_b}^{R,fi} O_{\ell_a \ell_b}^{R,fi} \right) \,, \tag{3.80}$$

with

$$O_{\ell_a\ell_b}^{L(R),fi} = \left[\bar{\ell}_a \gamma_\mu P_{L(R)} \ell_b\right] \left[\bar{\nu}_f \gamma^\mu P_L \nu_i\right].$$
(3.81)



Figure 6. Penguin diagrams that contribute to $\ell_b \rightarrow \ell_a \nu_i \bar{\nu}_f$ transitions. In case of the Z boson, lepton flavor is conserved at tree-level vertex (f = i). For the W penguins we applied Fierz identities in order to match on the effective operators. The box diagrams look similar to the one in figure 3 but turn out to be numerically insignificant.

At the 1-loop level, LQs can contribute to these processes through three types of Feynman diagrams: W-penguins, Z-penguins and pure LQ box diagrams, see figure 6. Again, the boxes are numerically not relevant due to the small couplings to muons. Therefore, we only present these results with full generality in the appendix.

The W penguin given in terms of the modified $W\ell\nu$ couplings of eq. (3.70) gives

$$D_{\ell_a\ell_b}^{L,fi} = \frac{4G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \Lambda_{\ell_b\nu_f}^{W*}(0) \Lambda_{\ell_a\nu_i}^W(0) .$$
(3.82)

Finally we also have the Z-penguins, yielding

$$D_{\ell_a\ell_b}^{L,fi} = \frac{8G_F}{\sqrt{2}}\Lambda_{\ell_a\ell_b}^L(0)\Sigma_{\nu_f\nu_i}(0), \qquad D_{\ell_a\ell_b}^{R,fi} = \frac{8G_F}{\sqrt{2}}\Lambda_{\ell_a\ell_b}^R(0)\Sigma_{\nu_f\nu_i}(0), \qquad (3.83)$$

where we used the effective $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$ couplings given in eq. (3.59).

4 Phenomenology

Now we turn to the phenomenological analysis of our singlet-triplet model. We consider the processes discussed above and include the loop effects calculated in the previous section. Our strategy is as follows: First we will discus the LHC bounds on third-generation LQs. Then we will consider how one can explain $b \to c\tau\nu$ data taking into account these limits and then study the impacts on other observables like $B_s \to \tau^+\tau^-$ and $W \to \tau\nu$. For this purpose, only couplings to tau leptons (but not to muons or electrons) are necessary. In a next step we will include $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ data in our analysis and thus allow for non-zero couplings to left-handed muons, while disregarding couplings to electrons due to the strong constraints from $\mu \to e\gamma$ [188]. In a final step, we search for benchmark points which can explain $b \to c\tau\nu$, $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ and a_{μ} simultaneously. For this purpose we also include couplings to right-handed muons in our analysis.

4.1 LHC bounds

Both Φ_1 and Φ_3 could obviously be produced at the LHC. Since LQs are charged under $SU(3)_c$ they can be pair produced via gluons (depicted in figure 7), which in general gives the best bound. However, for a third generation LQ, which is the case for our model to a good approximation, also t-channel production from bottom fusion is possible as well



Figure 7. Tree-level Feynman diagrams contributing to $gg \to \Phi \overline{\Phi}$.



Figure 8. Tree-level diagrams contributing to $q\bar{q} \to \Phi\bar{\Phi}$ and $gq \to L\Phi$. Except for the left diagram, the cross-sections depend on the couplings of the LQ to SM fermions. L can be either a neutrino or a charged lepton, depending on the specific LQ representation.

as single production via bottom-gluon fusion (see figure 8). ATLAS and CMS performed searches in these channels. In particular, in ref. [189] CMS analyzed data taken at a center-of-mass energy of 13 TeV with an integrated luminosity of 35.9 fb⁻¹ for the scalar singlet Φ_1 . Assuming Br $[\Phi_1 \rightarrow t\tau] = 100\%$, LQ masses up to 900 GeV are excluded. ATLAS searched for typical signals of the scalar triplet Φ_3 , using 36.1 fb⁻¹ of data at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV [190]. Focusing on NP effects in third generation quarks and leptons, i.e. $\Phi_3 \rightarrow t\nu/b\tau$ and $\Phi_3 \rightarrow t\tau/b\nu$, they find a lower limit on the LQ mass of 800 GeV. This limit can be raised up to 1 TeV if one of the aforementioned decay channels is dominating. Therefore, a third generation scalar LQ with mass above 1 TeV is consistent with LHC searches. We will assume this as a lower limit in the following phenomenological analysis of flavor observables. For more extensive analyses of LQ searches in combination with the flavor anomalies we refer e.g. to refs. [107, 191–196].

4.2 $b \rightarrow c \tau \nu$

Concerning $b \to c\tau\nu$ processes one can address the anomalies with couplings to third generation leptons, i.e. the tau lepton and the tau neutrino, while disregarding couplings to muons and electrons. In a first step we consider the simplified case of left-handed couplings only, i.e. $\hat{\lambda} = 0$. Furthermore, we can safely neglect CKM suppressed effects from first-generation quark couplings and are therefore left with the couplings $\lambda_{23,33}$ and $\kappa_{23,33}$, involving second and third generation quarks (i.e. bottom and strange quark in the down-basis). In this case the box contributions to $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ in eq. (3.38), together with the tree-level effect in $b \to s\nu\bar{\nu}$ in eq. (3.25) put an upper limit on the possible contribution to $b \to c\tau\nu$ processes (see figure 9). While the relative effect in $b \to s\nu\bar{\nu}$ compared to $b \to c\tau\nu$ is independent of the LQ mass, the relative effect in $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing compared to $b \to c\tau\nu$ amplitudes turns out to have a quadratic scaling with the mass. In fact, assuming real couplings and an exact cancellation in $R_{K(*)}^{\nu\bar{\nu}}$, Δm_{B_s} can be expressed in terms of the NP



Figure 9. Correlation between Br $[B_s \to \tau^+ \tau^-]$ and $R(D^{(*)})$, both normalized to their SM values, in the scenario with only left-handed couplings for $M_1 = M_3 \equiv M = 1$ TeV (left plot) and $M_1 = M_3 \equiv M = 1.5$ TeV (right plot). Here we scanned over $\lambda_{23}, \kappa_{23} \in [-1, 1]$ for all points and $\lambda_{33}, \kappa_{33} \in [-1, 1]$ (blue) or $\lambda_{33}, \kappa_{33} \in [-2, 2]$ (red), respectively. The blue points are displayed on top of the red ones, showing only points that are allowed by $R_{K^*}^{\nu\bar{\nu}}$. The dark gray points are in agreement with $R_{K^*}^{\nu\bar{\nu}}$, but excluded by $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing. The horizontal contour lines depict the LFU contribution to $C_9^{\ell\ell}$ while the green band represents the region for $R(D^{(*)})$ preferred by data at the 1σ level.

effect in $R(D^{(*)})$ as

$$\frac{\Delta m_{B_s}}{\Delta m_{B_s}^{\rm SM}} = 1 + \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \frac{G_F^2 V_{cb}^2 M^2}{C_1^{\rm SM}} \left(\sqrt{\frac{R(D^{(*)})}{R(D^{(*)})_{\rm SM}}} - 1 \right)^2, \tag{4.1}$$

with $M_1 = M_3 = M$. This relation holds once small CKM rotations are neglected which is possible in the case of an anarchic flavor structure, i.e. $V_{cb}\lambda_{33} \ll \lambda_{23}$ and $V_{cb}\kappa_{33} \ll \kappa_{23}$. The tau loops also generate an effect in C_7 as well as a LFU contribution to $C_9^{\ell\ell}$. Both these effects are directly correlated to $b \to s\tau^+\tau^-$ processes, induced by the tree-level coefficients $C_9^{\tau\tau} = -C_{10}^{\tau\tau}$. We find

$$C_{9}^{\ell\ell}(\mu_{b}) = \frac{\alpha}{27\pi} \left(14 + 9 \log\left(\frac{\mu_{b}^{2}}{M^{2}}\right) \right) C_{9}^{\tau\tau},$$

$$C_{7}(\mu_{b}) = -\frac{5\alpha}{36\pi} \left(\frac{27}{11}\eta^{\frac{16}{23}} - \frac{48}{33}\eta^{\frac{14}{23}}\right) C_{9}^{\tau\tau},$$
(4.2)

neglecting the different running of C_7 from μ_{LQ} down to m_t . One can also relate these two coefficients, yielding

$$C_9^{\ell\ell}(\mu_b) = -\frac{4}{15} \frac{14 + 9\log\left(\frac{\mu_b^2}{M^2}\right)}{\frac{27}{11}\eta^{\frac{16}{23}} - \frac{48}{33}\eta^{\frac{14}{23}}} C_7(\mu_b) \,. \tag{4.3}$$

This situation is illustrated in figure 9, where we show the correlations between $B_s \rightarrow \tau^+ \tau^-$ and $R(D^{(*)})$. Note that for left-handed couplings $R(D)/R(D)_{\rm SM} = R(D^*)/R(D^*)_{\rm SM}$



Figure 10. Correlations between the NP effect in Δm_{B_s} and the corrections to the effective $W \tau \nu_{\tau}$ coupling $\Lambda^W_{\tau\nu_{\tau}}(0)$, constrained from $\tau \to \mu\nu\bar{\nu}$ and $\tau \to e\nu\bar{\nu}$. Like in figure 9 we only considered the couplings $\lambda_{23,33}$ and $\kappa_{23,33}$, i.e. only couplings to left-handed taus, scanning over λ_{23} and κ_{23} (λ_{33} and κ_{33}) between ± 1 (± 2) and setting $M_1 = M_3 = M = 1$ TeV. The blue region is preferred by $\tau \to \mu\nu\bar{\nu}$ and $\tau \to e\nu\bar{\nu}$ data at the 1σ level.

is predicted. The bound from $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing limits the possible effect, both in $B_s \to \tau^+ \tau^$ and $R(D^{(*)})$, depending on the LQ mass. Heavier LQs lead to larger effects in $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ with respect to $B_s \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ and $R(D^{(*)})$ than lighter LQs. For the same scenario, i.e. only left-handed couplings to tau leptons, we also show corrections to the $W\tau\nu$ coupling in figure 10. Note that effect of Φ_1 has opposite sign than the one of Φ_3 . Furthermore, if one aims at increasing $R(D^{(*)})$, the effect of Φ_1 (Φ_3) in $W \to \tau\nu$ is destructive (constructive) such that it increases (decreases) the slight tension in $\tau \to \mu\nu\bar{\nu}$ data.

Next, let us allow for non-zero right-handed couplings $\lambda_{23,33}$ of Φ_1 to quarks and leptons. In this case the left-handed vector current encoded in $C_{VL}^{\tau\tau}$ (originating from Φ_1 and Φ_3 via $\lambda_{23,33}$ and $\kappa_{23,33}$ only) is now complemented by a $C_{SL}^{\tau\tau} = -4C_{TL}^{\tau\tau}$ effect from Φ_1 . This breaks the common rescaling of $R(D)/R(D)_{\rm SM}$ and $R(D^*)/R(D^*)_{\rm SM}$, depicted by the green line in figure 11. The constraint from $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ only limits C_{VL} but not $C_{SL} = -4C_{TL}$. The resulting correlations between R(D) and $R(D^*)$ are shown in figure 11. One can see that for deviations of $R(D^{(*)})/R(D^{(*)})_{\rm SM}$ from unity of more than $\approx 10\%$, our model predicts $R(D)/R(D)_{\rm SM} > R(D^*)/R(D^*)_{\rm SM}$.

The size and correlation between C_7 and a LFU effect in $C_9^{\ell\ell}$, induced by the tau loop, is shown in figure 12. Interestingly, to account for $b \to c\tau\nu$ data within 1σ , we predict $-0.5 < C_9^{\ell\ell} < -0.2$ (including right-handed couplings) which is in very good agreement with the global fit on $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ data, especially if it is complemented by a $C_9^{\mu\mu} = -C_{10}^{\mu\mu}$ LFUV effect [122, 151].

In the same way, $b \rightarrow d\tau \nu$ data can be addressed. Here, it was shown in ref. [109] that already a 10% effect with respect to the SM could lead to a neutron EDM observables in the near future.



Figure 11. Correlation between R(D) and $R(D^*)$, both normalized to their SM values. The (light) red ellipse shows the preferred region at the 1σ (2σ) level. The yellow points yield an effect in $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing of < 10% with respect to the SM, while for the blue points the NP effect is in the range of 10–20%. Only points allowed by $b \rightarrow s\nu\nu$ are shown. The black (green) solid line depicts the scenario where one generates the vector (scalar and tensor) operator only. We scanned over the couplings $\lambda_{23,33}$, $\kappa_{23,33}$ and $\hat{\lambda}_{23} \in [-1.5, 1.5]$ and the LQ masses $M_1 = M_3 \equiv M \in [1, 2]$ TeV.



Figure 12. Correlations between C_7 and $C_9^{\ell\ell}$, both given at the *B* meson scale. Here we imposed that the points satisfy $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing (i.e. yield a maximal effect of 20%) and lie within the 1σ (yellow) or 2σ (blue) region preferred by the global fit to $b \to c\tau\nu$ data. Note that nonzero effects in $C_7(\mu_b)$ and $C_9^{\ell\ell}(\mu_b)$ are mandatory in order to explain $b \to c\tau\nu$ data at 1σ and that $C_9^{\ell\ell}(\mu_b)$ has the sign preferred by the fit if this is required. Both coefficients include $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$ corrections. Again we scanned over the couplings $\lambda_{23,33}$, $\kappa_{23,33}$ and $\hat{\lambda}_{23} \in [-1.5, 1.5]$ and the LQ masses $M_1 = M_3 \equiv M \in [1, 2]$ TeV.



Figure 13. Correlations between $\operatorname{Br}[B \to K^* \tau \mu]$ and $\operatorname{Br}[\tau \to \phi \mu]$ (left) and between $\operatorname{Br}[B \to K^* \tau \mu]$ and $R_K^{\nu \bar{\nu}}$ (right). The blue points lie within the 1σ ranges of both the $b \to c\tau\nu$ and $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ fits, give an effect of less than 20% to $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing and do not violate any other constraints. We scanned over the couplings $\{\lambda_{23,33}, \kappa_{23,33}, \hat{\lambda}_{23}\} \in [-1.5, 1.5], \{\lambda_{22,32}, \kappa_{22,32}\} \in [-0.3, 0.3]$ and the LQ masses $M_1 = M_3 \equiv M \in [1, 2]$ TeV.

4.3 $b \to c \tau \nu$ and $b \to s \ell^+ \ell^-$

Let us now turn to the case where we allow for couplings to left-handed muons as well. Here, it is clear that, disregarding for the moment $R(D^{(*)})$ and thus tau couplings, one can explain $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ data with a tree-level $C_9^{\mu\mu} = -C_{10}^{\mu\mu}$ effect from Φ_3 without running into the danger of violating bounds from other flavor observables. However, the situation gets more interesting if one aims at explaining $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ and $b \to c\tau\nu$ data simultaneously. In this case LFV $\tau - \mu$ effects necessarily arise e.g. in $B \to K\tau\mu$, $\tau \to \phi\mu$, $Z \to \tau\mu$ and $\tau \to 3\mu$. Note that our model does not posses scalar currents in the down sector, therefore $B_s \to \tau\mu$ does not receive a chiral enhancement. The correlations between $B \to K\tau\mu$ and $\tau \to \phi\mu$ are shown in figure 13, finding that they are in general anti-correlated despite fine-tuned points.

4.4 $b \to c \tau \nu, b \to s \ell^+ \ell^-$ and a_μ

Finally, we aim at explaining the anomaly in the AMM of the muon in addition to $b \to c\tau\nu$ and $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ data. Accounting for δa_μ alone is possible and the only unavoidable effect occurs in $Z \to \mu^+\mu^-$, which can however only be tested at the FCC-ee [197]. Furthermore, explaining δa_μ together with $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ data does not pose a problem either since Φ_1 can account for δa_μ while Φ_3 can explain $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$. However, once one wants to account for $b \to c\tau\nu$ data the situation becomes non-trivial. Scanning over 10 million points⁸ we found approximately 350 points which can explain all three anomalies at the same time. The corresponding range for the couplings of these 350 points is shown in figure 14. Only allowing for an effect of 20% in $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing, the number of points is reduced to 40, where an effect as low as 10% is possible. In addition, we choose (out of these 350

⁸First we individually scanned over two million points for couplings to muons only and over one million points for couplings to taus only. From each of both datasets roughly 3500 points passed all constraints while lying in the 1σ range of the global fits for $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ or $b \to c\tau\nu$, respectively. The combination of the two datasets was then used as seed for the final scan over all parameters.



Figure 14. Possible ranges for the couplings of the points in parameter space which can explain all three anomalies at the 1σ level. We found these points by performing a parameter scan over the couplings $\{\lambda_{23,33}, \kappa_{23,33}, \hat{\lambda}_{23}\} \in [-1.5, 1.5], \{\lambda_{22,32}, \kappa_{22,32}, \hat{\lambda}_{32}\} \in [-0.3, 0.3]$ and by setting the LQ masses $M_1 = M_3 = 1.2$ TeV. In color we depict the values of the four benchmark points given in table 3. We found roughly 350 points that passed all constraints at the 95% C.L. while allowing for an effect in $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing of up to 30%.

points) four benchmark points, shown in color in figure 14. The predictions for the various observables for these benchmark points are given in table 3. Interestingly, even though in general $\tau \to \mu \gamma$ represents the most restrictive constraint on our model in case one aims at an explanation of all three anomalies, we still find points that give a relatively small contribution of roughly one order of magnitude below the current experimental bound. The branching ratio of $B_s \to \tau^- \tau^+$ is enhanced by a factor of roughly 100 with respect to the SM, which also is below the current experimental bound. While the effects in $\Lambda^W_{\tau\nu}$ are small, they are always positive, reducing the slight tension in the effective $W\tau\nu$ coupling. The effects in $B \to K\tau\mu$ and $\tau \to \phi\mu$ range from being negligible to close to the current experimental bounds while effects in $\tau \to \mu ee$ and $\tau \to 3\mu$ lie roughly two orders of magnitude below the current experimental limit. Furthermore, the effects in $Z \to \tau^- \tau^+$ would clearly be measurable at an FCC-ee [183].

5 Conclusions

Motivated by the intriguing hints for LFU violating NP in $R(D^{(*)})$, $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ processes and a_μ , we studied the flavor phenomenology of the LQ singlet-triplet model. We first defined the most general setup for the model, including an arbitrary number of LQ "generations" as well as mixing among them. With this at hand, we performed the matching of the model on the effective low energy theory and related the Wilson coefficients to flavor

	κ_{22}	κ_{32}	κ_{23}	κ_{33}	λ_{22}	λ_3	32	λ_{23}	χ	\33	$\hat{\lambda}_{32}$	$\hat{\lambda}_{23}$
• p ₁	-0.019	-0.059	0.58	-0.11	-0.0082	-0.0	016 -	-1.46	-0	.064	-0.1	19 1.34
• p ₂	$p_2 \mid -0.017 \mid -$		-1.23	0.066	0.0078	-0.0	055	1.36	0.	052	-0.0	53 -1.47
• p ₃	p_3 0.0080		1.18	-0.073	-0.0017	0.1	16 -	-0.76	-0	.068	0.02	23 1.23
$\bullet p_4$	-0.0032	-0.21	0.44	-0.20	0.014	-0.	.10 -	-1.38	-0	.068	-0.0	32 0.57
	$C_9^{\mu\mu} = -C_1^{\mu}$	$C_9^{\ell\ell}$	$\frac{R(D)}{R(D)_{\rm SM}}$	$\frac{R(D^*)}{R(D^*)_{\rm SI}}$	$\frac{B_s \to \tau}{B_s \to \tau \tau}$	$\frac{\tau \tau}{ _{\rm SM}}$	$\begin{array}{c} \tau \to \mu \gamma \\ \times 10^8 \end{array}$	$\delta a_{\mu} = \delta a_{\mu} \times 10^{-10}$	μ) ¹¹	$\frac{\tilde{V}^e_{cb}/\tilde{V}_c}{ imes 1}$	$\frac{r^{\mu}}{cb} - 1$ 0^{6}	$\begin{array}{c} Z \rightarrow \tau \mu \\ \times 10^{10} \end{array}$
• p ₁	-0.52	-0.2	1.15	1.10	59.88	3	4.35	20	7	29	91	0.117
$\bullet p_2$	-0.56	-0.23	3 1.14	1.10	99.76	3	0.766	19	9	44	18	2.38
$\bullet p_3$	-0.31	-0.3	1.14	1.09	112.5	5	3.62	25	5	1	7	0.129
• p ₄	-0.31	-0.3	1.13	1.11	112.5	5	0.734	23	0	93	34	45.6
$C_{SL}^{\tau\tau} = -4C_T^{\tau}$		$\begin{array}{c c} \tau \tau \\ TL \end{array} & C_{VL}^{\tau \tau} \end{array}$	$R^{K^{(*)}}_{\nu\bar\nu}$	$\frac{\Delta m_{B_s}^{\rm NP}}{\Delta m_{B_s}^{\rm SM}}$	$\begin{array}{c} B \to K \\ \times 10^5 \end{array}$	$\tau \mu$	$\begin{array}{c} \tau \rightarrow \phi \mu \\ \times 10^8 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c} \tau \rightarrow \\ \times 10 \end{array}$	μee	$ \Lambda_{33}^{ m LG} angle imes 1$	$ ^{2}(0) _{0^{5}}$	$\frac{\Delta^L_{33}(m_Z^2)}{\Lambda^{L\ell}_{\rm SM}\times 10^{-5}}$
$\bullet p_1$	0.023	0.040	2.33	0.1	0.512	2	1.27	44.9	94	1.1	11	-3.64
• p ₂	0.020	0.040	0.87	0.16	3.32		4.73	7.78	33	0.9	90	-3.02
• p ₃	0.023	0.037	1.08	0.19	4.07		1.00	37.8	39	0.8	89	-3.51
• p ₄	0.010	0.047	2.43	0.18	3.69		0.0021	18.0	50	3.1	12	-10.04

Table 3. p_1 - p_4 are four benchmark points that can simultaneously explain all three flavor anomalies $(b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-, b \rightarrow c\tau\nu \text{ and } \delta a_\mu)$ at the 1σ level and pass all other constraints at the 95% C.L.. Here we show the values for the fermion couplings, the results for $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$, $b \rightarrow c\tau\nu$ and δa_μ as well as the predictions for several flavor observables which can be measured in the future. Note that the effect in $\tau \rightarrow 3\mu$ (not depicted here) is of comparable size as the one in $\tau \rightarrow \mu ee$. The LQ masses were set to $M = M_1 = M_3 = 1.2$ TeV.

observables. Here, we included the potentially relevant loop effects, e.g. in $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing, $b \to s\gamma$, LFU contributions to $C_9^{\ell\ell}$ and a_{μ} , as well as in modified Z and W couplings.

Our phenomenological analysis proceeded in three steps: First, we disregarded the anomalies related to muons and considered the possibility of explaining $R(D^{(*)})$ and the resulting implication for other observables. We found that, including only couplings to left-handed fermions, the size of the possible effect depends crucially on the mass of the LQ: the larger (smaller) the mass (couplings) the bigger the relative effect in $B_s - \bar{B}_s$. Together with $b \to s\nu\bar{\nu}$, this is the limiting factor here. For M = 1 TeV and values of κ_{33} up to ± 2 , a 20% effect in $R(D^{(*)})$ is possible, while for M = 1.5 TeV and $|\kappa_{33}| < 1$ only a 10% effect with respect to the SM can be generated (see figure 9). At the same time, an enhancement of $B_s \to \tau^+\tau^-$ of the order of 10^2 is predicted, which, via loop effects, leads to a LFU $C_9^{\ell\ell} \approx -0.3$. Once couplings to right-handed leptons are included, larger effects in $b \to c\tau\nu$ processes are possible and $R(D)/R(D)_{\rm SM} > R(D^*)/R(D)_{\rm SM}^*$ is predicted, see figures 11 and 12.

In a second step, we aimed at a simultaneous explanation of $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ data together with $R(D^{(*)})$. In this case, effects in lepton flavor violating processes like $B \to K\tau\mu$ and $\tau \to \phi\mu$ are predicted as shown in figure 13. These effects are still compatible with current data but can be tested soon by LHCb and BELLE II.

Finally, including in addition the AMM of the muon in the analysis is challenging since then right-handed couplings to muons are required which, together with the couplings needed to explain $R(D^{(*)})$, lead to chirally enhanced effects in $\tau \to \mu \gamma$. It is still possible to find a common solution to all three anomalies but only a small region of the parameter space can do this. Nonetheless, we identified four benchmark points which can achieve such a simultaneous explanation to all three anomalies (see figure 14).

In summary, the LQ singlet-triplet model is a prime candidate for explaining the flavor anomalies and we would like to emphasize that there is no renormalizable model on the market which is more minimal (only two new particles are needed here) and capable to address all three prominent flavor anomalies together.

Acknowledgments

We thank Christoph Greub for useful comments on the manuscript. The work of A.C. and D.M. is supported by a Professorship Grant (PP00P2_176884) of the Swiss National Science Foundation. The work of F.S. is supported by the Swiss National Foundation grant 200020_175449/1.

A Loop functions and exact results

In this appendix we define the loop functions appearing in the calculation of the observables and give the most general expressions for the Wilson coefficients, including multiple LQ generations (N singlets Φ_1 , M triplets Φ_3) and mixing among them. Let us recapitulate the definition of the masses:

- The singlet and triplet representations with electromagnetic charge $Q_{em} = -1/3$ have the masses m_K with $K = \{1, \ldots, M + N\}$.
- The LQ with electromagnetic charge $Q_{em} = 2/3$ and $Q_{em} = -4/3$, stemming from the triplet representations, have the same masses \bar{m}_J with $J = \{1, \ldots, M\}$.

A.1 Loop functions

Throughout this article we used the loop functions C_0 and $D_{0,2}$, defined as

$$\frac{i}{16\pi^2} C_0(m_0^2, m_1^2, m_2^2) = \mu^{2\epsilon} \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{(\ell^2 - m_0^2) (\ell^2 - m_1^2) (\ell^2 - m_2^2)},$$

$$\frac{i}{16\pi^2} D_0(m_0^2, m_1^2, m_2^2, m_3^2) = \mu^{2\epsilon} \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{(\ell^2 - m_0^2) (\ell^2 - m_1^2) (\ell^2 - m_2^2) (\ell^2 - m_3^2)}, \quad (A.1)$$

$$\frac{i}{16\pi^2} D_2(m_0^2, m_1^2, m_2^2, m_3^2) = \mu^{2\epsilon} \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{\ell^2}{(\ell^2 - m_0^2) (\ell^2 - m_1^2) (\ell^2 - m_2^2) (\ell^2 - m_3^2)},$$

with $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$.

A.2 $dd\ell\ell$

For $d_k \to d_j \ell_f^- \ell_i^+$ processes we match on the effective operators defined in eq. (3.1). The tree-level contribution gives

$$C_{9,jk}^{fi} = -C_{10,jk}^{fi} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \frac{\pi}{\alpha} \sum_{J=1}^M \frac{\Gamma_{d_k \ell_i}^J \Gamma_{d_j \ell_f}^{J*}}{\bar{m}_J^2} , \qquad (A.2)$$

while the loop calculations yield

$$C_{7}^{jk}(\mu_{LQ}) = \frac{-\sqrt{2}}{4G_{F}V_{td_{k}}V_{td_{j}}^{*}} \left[\frac{1}{72} \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{i}}^{L,K}\Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{i}}^{L,K*}}{m_{K}^{2}} + \frac{5}{36} \sum_{J=1}^{M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{i}}^{J}\Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{i}}^{J*}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}} \right],$$

$$C_{8}^{jk}(\mu_{LQ}) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4G_{F}V_{td_{k}}V_{td_{j}}^{*}} \frac{1}{24} \left[\sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{i}}^{L,K}\Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{i}}^{L,K*}}{m_{K}^{2}} + \sum_{J=1}^{M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{i}}^{J}\Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{i}}^{J*}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}} \right],$$

$$C_{9,jk}^{ii}(\mu_{LQ}) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{216G_{F}V_{td_{k}}V_{td_{j}}^{*}} \left[\sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{i}}^{L,K}\Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{i}}^{L,K*}}{m_{K}^{2}} + 2\sum_{J=1}^{M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{i}}^{J}\Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{i}}^{J*}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}} \left(14 + 9\log\left(\frac{\mu_{LQ}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}}\right) \right) \right].$$
(A.3)

At the low scale of the processes, one has to include the effect of the diagram in the effective theory. This results in a so-called effective Wilson coefficient which also depends on the lepton mass in the loop and q^2

$$\mathcal{C}_{9,jk}^{ii\,\text{eff}}(\mu) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{216G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \left[\sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_j\nu_l}^{L,K} \Gamma_{d_k\nu_l}^{L,K*}}{m_K^2} + 2\sum_{J=1}^M \frac{\Gamma_{d_j\ell_l}^J \Gamma_{d_k\ell_l}^{J*}}{\bar{m}_J^2} \mathcal{F}\left(q^2, m_{\ell_l}^2, \bar{m}_J^2, \mu^2\right) \right],$$
(A.4)

with

$$\mathcal{F}\left(q^{2}, m_{\ell}^{2}, M^{2}, \mu^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{q^{2}} \left(9q^{2}\log\left(\frac{\mu^{2}}{M^{2}}\right) - q^{2} - 36m_{\ell}^{2}\right)$$

$$-\frac{18}{\left(q^{2}\right)^{2} \mathcal{X}(m_{\ell}^{2}, q^{2})} \left(\left(q^{2}\right)^{2} - 2m_{\ell}^{2}q^{2} - 8m_{\ell}^{4}\right) \arctan\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{X}(m_{\ell}^{2}, q^{2})}\right),$$
(A.5)

where we defined for convenience

$$\mathcal{X}(a,b) = \sqrt{\frac{4a^2}{b^2} - 1}$$
. (A.6)

A.3 $uu\gamma$ and EDM

We define the effective Hamiltonian as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{eff}}^{\mathbf{u}\gamma} = C_{\gamma}^{jk} O_{\gamma}^{jk} + C_{g}^{jk} O_{g}^{jk} + C_{T}^{jk\tau} O_{T}^{jk\tau} , \qquad (A.7)$$

with

$$O_{\gamma}^{jk} = e \left[\bar{u}_{j} \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{R} u_{k} \right] F_{\mu\nu} ,$$

$$O_{g}^{jk} = g_{s} \left[\bar{u}_{j} \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{R} T^{a} u_{k} \right] G_{\mu\nu}^{a} ,$$

$$O_{T}^{jk\tau} = \left[\bar{u}_{j} \sigma_{\mu\nu} P_{R} u_{k} \right] \left[\bar{\tau} \sigma^{\mu\nu} P_{R} \tau \right] ,$$
(A.8)

and obtain in the case of one generation of LQs and no mixing among them

$$C_{\gamma}^{jk}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) = \frac{1}{1152\pi^2} \left[7 \frac{m_{u_k} V_{kl}^* \lambda_{li} V_{jm} \lambda_{mi}^* + m_{u_j} \hat{\lambda}_{ki} \hat{\lambda}_{ji}^*}{M_1^2} - \frac{12m_{\ell_i} \hat{\lambda}_{ki} V_{jl} \lambda_{li}^*}{M_1^2} \left(4 + 3\log\left(\frac{\mu_{\rm LQ}^2}{M_1^2}\right) \right) + 3 \frac{m_{u_k} V_{kl}^* \kappa_{li} V_{jm} \kappa_{mi}^*}{M_3^2} \right],$$

$$C_g^{jk}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) = -\frac{1}{384\pi^2} \left[\frac{m_{u_k} V_{kl}^* \lambda_{li} V_{jm} \lambda_{mi}^* + m_{u_j} \hat{\lambda}_{ki} \hat{\lambda}_{ji}^*}{M_1^2} + \frac{6m_{\ell_i} \hat{\lambda}_{ki} V_{jl} \lambda_{li}^*}{M_1^2} + \frac{3m_{u_k} V_{kl}^* \kappa_{li} V_{jm} \kappa_{mi}^*}{M_3^2} \right],$$

$$C_T^{jk\tau}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) = \frac{V_{kl} \lambda_{l3}^* \hat{\lambda}_{j3}}{8M_1^2}.$$
(A.9)

The contributing diagram is depicted in figure 1. For the neutron EDM we set j = k = 1 and reproduce (setting $m_u = 0$) our result from [109], where also the relevant RGE can be found. In case of LQ mixing, we have

$$\begin{split} C_7^{jk}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) &= \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4G_F} \frac{1}{72} \Biggl[2 \sum_{J=1}^M \frac{\Gamma_{u_k \nu_i}^J \Gamma_{u_j \nu_i}^{J*}}{\bar{m}_J^2} - \frac{7}{m_{u_k}} \sum_{K=1}^{M+N} \frac{m_{u_k} \Gamma_{u_k \ell_i}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^{L,K*} + m_{u_j} \Gamma_{u_k \ell_i}^{R,K} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^{R,K*}}{m_K^2} \\ &+ 12 \sum_{K=1}^{M+N} \frac{m_{\ell_i}}{m_{u_k}} \frac{\Gamma_{u_k \ell_i}^{R,K} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^{L,K*}}{m_K^2} \Biggl(4 + 3 \log \left(\frac{\mu_{\rm LQ}^2}{m_K^2} \right) \Biggr) \Biggr], \\ C_8^{jk}(\mu_{\rm LQ}) &= \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4G_F} \frac{1}{24} \Biggl[\sum_{J=1}^M \frac{\Gamma_{u_k \nu_i}^J \Gamma_{u_j \nu_i}^{J*}}{\bar{m}_J^2} + \frac{1}{m_{u_k}} \sum_{K=1}^{M+N} \frac{m_{u_k} \Gamma_{u_k \ell_i}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^{L,K*} + m_{u_j} \Gamma_{u_k \ell_i}^{R,K} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^{R,K*}}{m_K^2} \\ &+ 6 \sum_{K=1}^{M+N} \frac{m_{\ell_i}}{m_{u_k}} \frac{\Gamma_{u_k \ell_i}^{R,K} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^{L,K*}}{m_K^2} \Biggr], \\ C_T^{jk\tau} &= \frac{\Gamma_{u_k \ell_3}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_3}^{R,K}}{8m_K^2}. \end{split}$$

A.4 $du\ell\nu$

For the effective Hamiltonian defined in eq. (3.27) we find

$$C_{VL,jk}^{fi} = \frac{-\sqrt{2}}{8G_F V_{u_j d_k}} \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_k \nu_i}^K \Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{L,K*}}{m_K^2},$$

$$C_{SL,jk}^{fi} = -4C_{TL,jk}^{fi} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{8G_F V_{u_j d_k}} \sum_{K=1}^{M+N} \frac{\Gamma_{d_k \nu_i}^K \Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{R,K*}}{m_K^2}.$$
(A.11)

A.5 $dd\nu\nu$ and $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing

The effective Hamiltonians for $dd\nu\nu$ and $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing are given by eq. (3.24) and eq. (3.37), respectively. We find for $b \to s\nu\bar{\nu}$

$$C_{L,jk}^{fi} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4G_F V_{td_k} V_{td_j}^*} \frac{\pi}{\alpha} \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_k \nu_i}^K \Gamma_{d_j \nu_f}^{K*}}{m_K^2}, \qquad (A.12)$$

and for $B_s - \bar{B}_s$ mixing

$$C_{1} = \frac{-1}{128\pi^{2}} \left(\sum_{\{K,P\}=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{d_{2}\nu_{i}}^{K*} \Gamma_{d_{3}\nu_{j}}^{K} \Gamma_{d_{2}\nu_{j}}^{P*} \Gamma_{d_{3}\nu_{i}}^{Q} C_{0}\left(0, m_{K}^{2}, m_{P}^{2}\right) + \sum_{\{J,Q\}=1}^{M} \Gamma_{d_{2}\ell_{i}}^{Q*} \Gamma_{d_{3}\ell_{j}}^{Q} \Gamma_{d_{2}\ell_{j}}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_{3}\ell_{i}}^{J} C_{0}\left(0, \bar{m}_{Q}^{2}, \bar{m}_{J}^{2}\right) \right).$$
(A.13)

A.6 $\ell\ell\gamma$, $Z\ell\ell$ and $Z\nu\nu$

In case of $\ell_i \to \ell_f \gamma$ transitions and the effective Hamiltonian given by eq. (3.44) we have

$$\begin{split} C_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L} &= -\sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \left[\frac{m_{\ell_{f}} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{i}}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} + m_{\ell_{i}} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{i}}^{R,K} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{R,K*}}{28m_{K}^{2}} - \frac{m_{u_{j}} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{i}}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{R,K*}}{4m_{K}^{2}} \left(7 + 4\log\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{K}^{2}}\right) \right) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{J=1}^{M} \frac{m_{\ell_{f}} \Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{i}}^{J} \Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{f}}^{J*}}{4\bar{m}_{J}^{2}} \,, \end{split}$$
(A.14)

with $N_c = 3$ already included. For the off-shell photon, as given by the amplitude in eq. (3.47), we obtain

$$\tilde{\Xi}_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{L} = \frac{-N_{c}}{576\pi^{2}} \left[\delta_{fi} + \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \frac{\Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{i}}^{L,K}}{m_{K}^{2}} F\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{K}^{2}}\right) + \sum_{J=1}^{M} \frac{\Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{i}}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{f}}^{J}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}} G\left(\frac{m_{d_{j}}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}}\right) \right],$$

$$\tilde{\Xi}_{\ell_{f}\ell_{i}}^{R} = \frac{-N_{c}}{576\pi^{2}} \left[\delta_{fi} + \sum_{K=1}^{M+N} \frac{\Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{R,K*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{i}}^{R,K}}{m_{K}^{2}} F\left(\frac{m_{u_{j}}^{2}}{m_{K}^{2}}\right) \right],$$
(A.15)

where the loop functions F(y) and G(y) are defined in eq. (3.49).

For Z decays, where the amplitude is given by eq. (3.54) and the $\Delta_{fi}^{L(R)}$ are introduced in eq. (3.55), we find

$$\Delta_{fi}^{L}(q^{2}) = \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{i}}^{L,K} \mathcal{F}_{L}\left(m_{u_{j}}^{2},q^{2},m_{K}^{2}\right) + \sum_{J=1}^{M} \Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{f}}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{i}}^{J} \mathcal{G}_{L}\left(q^{2},\bar{m}_{J}^{2}\right) ,$$

$$\Delta_{fi}^{R}(q^{2}) = \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{R,K*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{i}}^{R,K} \mathcal{F}_{R}\left(m_{u_{j}}^{2},q^{2},m_{K}^{2}\right) ,$$
(A.16)

with

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{L}\left(m_{u}^{2},q^{2},M^{2}\right) &= \frac{N_{c}}{864\pi^{2}M^{2}} \left(\left(3q^{2}(4s_{w}^{2}-3)+27m_{u}^{2}\right)\log\left(\frac{m_{u}^{2}}{M^{2}}\right) - s_{w}^{2}(5q^{2}+48m_{u}^{2}) \right. \\ &\left. + 3(q^{2}+3m_{u}^{2}) + 6\mathcal{X}(m_{u}^{2},q^{2})\left(4s_{w}^{2}(q^{2}+2m_{u}^{2})-3q^{2}+3m_{u}^{2}\right)\arctan\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{X}(m_{u}^{2},q^{2})}\right) \right), \\ \mathcal{G}_{L}\left(q^{2},M^{2}\right) &= -\frac{N_{c}q^{2}}{864\pi^{2}M^{2}} \left((6s_{w}^{2}-9)\log\left(\frac{q^{2}}{M^{2}}\right) + 2s_{w}^{2}(1-3i\pi) + 9i\pi \right), \\ \mathcal{F}_{R}\left(m_{u}^{2},q^{2},M^{2}\right) &= \frac{N_{c}}{864\pi^{2}M^{2}} \left(\left(12s_{w}^{2}q^{2}-27m_{u}^{2}\right)\log\left(\frac{m_{u}^{2}}{M^{2}}\right) - s_{w}^{2}\left(5q^{2}+48m_{u}^{2}\right) + 27m_{u}^{2} \right. \\ &\left. + 6\mathcal{X}(m_{u}^{2},q^{2})\left(4s_{w}^{2}(q^{2}+2m_{u}^{2}) - 9m_{u}^{2}\right)\arctan\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{X}(m_{u}^{2},q^{2})}\right) \right), \end{aligned}$$
(A.17)

again using

$$\mathcal{X}(a^2, b^2) = \sqrt{\frac{4a^2}{b^2} - 1}$$
 (A.18)

At the level of the effective couplings $(q^2 = 0)$ we have

$$\Delta_{fi}^{L}(0) = \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{i}}^{L,K} \mathcal{F}_{L}\left(m_{t}^{2}, 0, m_{K}^{2}\right) ,$$

$$\Delta_{fi}^{R}(0) = \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{f}}^{R,K*} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{i}}^{R,K} \mathcal{F}_{R}\left(m_{t}^{2}, 0, m_{K}^{2}\right) .$$
(A.19)

The functions $\mathcal{F}_{L/R}$ then become

$$\mathcal{F}_L(m_t^2, 0, M^2) = \frac{m_t^2 N_c}{32\pi^2 M^2} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M^2}\right) \right) = -\mathcal{F}_R(m_t^2, 0, M^2) \,. \tag{A.20}$$

The amplitude for $Z \to \nu \bar{\nu}$ is again given by eq. (3.54). For the $\Sigma_{fi}^{LQ}(q^2)$, introduced in eq. (3.55), we obtain

$$\Sigma_{fi}^{LQ}(q^2) = \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{d_j\nu_f}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_j\nu_i}^{L,K} \mathcal{H}_1(q^2, m_K^2) + \sum_{J=1}^M \Gamma_{u_j\nu_f}^{J*} \Gamma_{u_j\nu_i}^J \mathcal{H}_2(m_{u_j}^2, q^2, \bar{m}_J^2), \qquad (A.21)$$

with

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_{1}(q^{2},M^{2}) &= \frac{N_{c}q^{2}}{864\pi^{2}M^{2}} \bigg(3(3-2s_{w}^{2})\log\bigg(\frac{q^{2}}{M^{2}}\bigg) - 3i\pi(3-2s_{w}^{2}) - 3 + s_{w}^{2} \bigg), \\ \mathcal{H}_{2}(m_{u}^{2},q^{2},M^{2}) &= \frac{N_{c}}{864\pi^{2}M^{2}} \bigg(3\Big((4s_{w}^{2}-3)q^{2} + 9m_{u}^{2}\Big)\log\bigg(\frac{m_{u}^{2}}{M^{2}}\bigg) - 2s_{w}^{2}(q^{2} + 24m_{u}^{2}) \\ &+ 9m_{u}^{2} + 6\mathcal{X}(m_{u}^{2},q^{2})\Big(4s_{w}^{2}(q^{2} + 2m_{u}^{2}) - 3q^{2} + 3m_{u}^{2} \Big) \arctan\bigg(\frac{1}{\mathcal{X}(m_{u}^{2},q^{2})}\bigg) \bigg), \end{aligned}$$

where we again neglected to down-type quark masses, but kept the dependencies on the up-type ones due to the heavy top quark. If we work with effective couplings instead of full amplitudes, the results are

$$\Sigma_{fi}^{LQ}(0) = \sum_{J=1}^{M} \Gamma_{u_3\nu_f}^{J*} \Gamma_{u_3\nu_i}^{J} \mathcal{H}_2(m_t^2, 0, \bar{m}_J^2), \qquad (A.23)$$

with

$$\mathcal{H}_2(m_t^2, 0, M^2) = \frac{N_c m_t^2}{32\pi^2 M^2} \left(1 + \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{M^2}\right) \right).$$
(A.24)

A.7 $W\ell\nu$

For the $\Lambda_{fi}^{LQ}(q^2)$, defined in eq. (3.66) and eq. (3.67), we obtain

$$\Lambda_{fi}^{LQ}(q^{2}) = \frac{N_{c}}{64\pi^{2}} \left\{ \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \left[V_{u_{j}d_{k}}^{*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{i}}^{L,K} \mathcal{F}_{W}\left(m_{u_{j}}^{2},q^{2},m_{K}^{2}\right) + \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{i}}^{L,K}\frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{K}^{2}} \right] \quad (A.25) \\
+ \sum_{J=1}^{M} \Gamma_{u_{3}\nu_{f}}^{J*} \Gamma_{u_{3}\nu_{i}}^{J} \frac{m_{t}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}} + 2\sqrt{2} \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \sum_{J=1}^{M} W_{J+N,K} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{j}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_{3}\nu_{i}}^{J} \frac{m_{t}^{2}}{m_{K}^{2} - \bar{m}_{J}^{2}} \log\left(\frac{m_{K}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{J}^{2}}\right) \\
- \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3} \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \sum_{J=1}^{M} q^{2} \left(W_{J+N,K} \Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\nu_{i}}^{J} - W_{J+N,K}^{*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{i}}^{J} \right) \mathcal{H}_{W}\left(m_{K}^{2},\bar{m}_{J}^{2}\right) \right\}$$

with

$$\mathcal{F}_{W}\left(m_{u}^{2},q^{2},M^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{9M^{2}} \left[6(2q^{2}-3m_{u}^{2})\log\left(\frac{m_{u}^{2}}{M^{2}}\right) - \left(4q^{2}-3m_{u}^{2}-\frac{6m_{u}^{4}}{q^{2}}\right) + 6\left(2q^{2}-3m_{u}^{2}+\frac{m_{u}^{6}}{(q^{2})^{2}}\right)\log\left(1-\frac{q^{2}}{m_{u}^{2}}\right) \right]$$
(A.26)
$$\mathcal{H}_{W}(x^{2},y^{2}) = \frac{x^{2}+y^{2}}{(x^{2}-y^{2})^{2}} - \frac{2x^{2}y^{2}}{(x^{2}-y^{2})^{3}}\log\left(\frac{x^{2}}{y^{2}}\right).$$

Additionally, there are terms that do not trivially decouple, however, they vanish in the decoupling limit. They read

$$\begin{split} \overline{\Lambda}_{fi}^{LQ}(\mu^2) &= \frac{N_c}{64\pi^2} \Biggl\{ \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \Biggl[-V_{u_j d_k}^* \Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_k \nu_i}^{L,K} \Biggl(2\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_K^2}\right) + 1 \Biggr) \\ &- \Biggl(\Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_i}^{L,K} + \Gamma_{d_j \nu_f}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_j \nu_i}^{L,K} \Biggr) \Biggl(\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_K^2}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \Biggr) \Biggr] \\ &- \sum_{J=1}^{M} \Biggl(\Gamma_{u_j \nu_f}^{J*} \Gamma_{u_j \nu_i}^J + \Gamma_{d_j \ell_f}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_j \ell_i}^J \Biggr) \Biggl(\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{\bar{m}_J^2}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \Biggr) \\ &- \sqrt{2} \sum_{J=1}^{M} \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \Biggl[W_{J+N,K} \Gamma_{u_j \ell_f}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_j \nu_i}^J \Biggl(2\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{\bar{m}_J^2}\right) - \frac{2m_K^2}{m_K^2 - \bar{m}_J^2} \log\left(\frac{m_K^2}{\bar{m}_J^2}\right) + 3 \Biggr) \\ &- W_{J+N,K}^* \Gamma_{d_k \ell_f}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_k \nu_i}^{L,K} \Biggl(2\log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_K^2}\right) - \frac{2\bar{m}_J^2}{m_K^2 - \bar{m}_J^2} \log\left(\frac{m_K^2}{\bar{m}_J^2}\right) + 3 \Biggr) \Biggr] \Biggr\}. \end{split}$$

Note that the scale dependence μ drops out exactly. If we work at the level of effective couplings, we have

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{fi}^{\mathrm{LQ}}(0) &= \frac{N_c m_t^2}{64\pi^2} \left[\sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \left(\frac{\Gamma_{u_3\ell_f}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_i}^{L,K}}{m_K^2} - \frac{2V_{u_3d_k}^* \Gamma_{d_k\nu_i}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_f}^{L,K*}}{m_K^2} \log\left(\frac{m_t^2}{m_K^2}\right) \right) \\ &+ \sum_{J=1}^{M} \frac{\Gamma_{u_3\nu_f}^{J*} \Gamma_{u_3\nu_i}^J}{\bar{m}_J^2} + 2\sqrt{2} \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \sum_{J=1}^{M} W_{J+N,K} \frac{\Gamma_{u_3\ell_f}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_3\nu_i}^J}{m_K^2 - \bar{m}_J^2} \log\left(\frac{m_K^2}{\bar{m}_J^2}\right) \right]. \end{split}$$
(A.28)

In the limit of no LQ mixing, the loop functions used in eq. (3.68) become

$$\mathcal{F}_{1}\left(m_{u}^{2}, q^{2}, M^{2}\right) = \mathcal{F}_{W}\left(m_{u}^{2}, q^{2}, M^{2}\right) + \frac{m_{u}^{2}}{M^{2}}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{2}\left(m_{u}^{2}, q^{2}, M^{2}\right) = \mathcal{F}_{W}\left(m_{u}^{2}, q^{2}, M^{2}\right) - \frac{m_{u}^{2}}{M^{2}}.$$
(A.29)

A.8 $\tau \to 3\mu, \, \tau \to \mu e^+ e^- \text{ and } \mu \to 3e$

The relevant effective Hamiltonian is given in eq. (3.72). The contributions of the photon and Z penguin diagrams are given by eq. (3.74) and eq. (3.76), respectively. Now we use the effective couplings as defined in eq. (A.15) (photon) and eq. (A.16) (Z boson).

Finally, we have the box diagrams. Contrary to the vector current operators, the scalar operators $O_{\ell\ell\ell\ell}^S$ are always proportional to m_q^2/M_{LQ}^2 . Therefore, we only consider contributions from the top quark. The box contributions read

$$\begin{split} C_{abfi}^{V\,LL} &= \frac{-1}{256\pi^2} \sum_{\{K,P\}=1}^{N+M} \left(\Gamma_{u_k\ell_a}^{L,P*} \Gamma_{u_k\ell_b}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_j\ell_f}^{L,P*} \Gamma_{u_j\ell_a}^{L,P} + \Gamma_{u_j\ell_a}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_k\ell_b}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_k\ell_f}^{L,P*} \Gamma_{u_j\ell_i}^{L,P} \right) \\ &\times D_2 \left(m_{u_k}^2, m_{u_j}^2, m_K^2, m_P^2 \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{256\pi^2} \sum_{\{J,Q\}=1}^{M} \left(\Gamma_{d_k\ell_a}^{Q*} \Gamma_{d_k\ell_b}^J \Gamma_{d_j\ell_f}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_j\ell_a}^Q + \Gamma_{d_j\ell_a}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_k\ell_b}^J \Gamma_{d_j\ell_i}^Q \right) C_0 \left(0, \bar{m}_J^2, \bar{m}_Q^2 \right), \\ C_{abfi}^{V\,LR} &= \frac{-1}{64\pi^2} \sum_{\{K,P\}=1}^{N+M} \left[\Gamma_{u_k\ell_a}^{L,P*} \Gamma_{u_k\ell_b}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_j\ell_f}^{R,K*} \Gamma_{u_j\ell_i}^{R,P} D_2 \left(m_{u_k}^2, m_{u_j}^2, m_K^2, m_P^2 \right) \right. \\ &- 2\Gamma_{u_3\ell_a}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_b}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_f}^{R,P*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_i}^{R,P} m_t^2 D_0 \left(m_t^2, m_t^2, m_K^2, m_P^2 \right) \right], \\ C_{abfi}^{S\,LL} &= \frac{-m_t^2}{64\pi^2} \sum_{\{K,P\}=1}^{N+M} \left(2\Gamma_{u_3\ell_a}^{R,P*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_b}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_f}^{R,K*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_i}^{L,P} - \Gamma_{u_3\ell_a}^{R,K*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_b}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_a}^{R,P*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_a}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_b}^{R,P*} \Gamma_{u_3\ell_a}^{L,P} \right) \right. \\ \times D_0 \left(m_t^2, m_t^2, m_K^2, m_P^2 \right). \end{split}$$

Again, $C_{abfi}^{V/S\,RL(RR)}$ are obtained from $C_{abfi}^{V/S\,LR(LL)}$ by interchanging L and R.

A.9 $\tau \to \ell \nu \bar{\nu}$ and $\mu \to e \nu \bar{\nu}$

As it was the case for the previous results, we consider the top as the only non-zero quark mass and in cases where the result is proportional to the quark mass (squared), we directly write the result in terms of the top. The effective Hamiltonian for the process is given in eq. (3.80). The box diagrams read

$$D_{\ell_{a}\ell_{b}}^{L,fi} = -\frac{1}{64\pi^{2}} \Biggl\{ \sum_{\{K,P\}=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{u_{k}\ell_{a}}^{L,P*} \Gamma_{u_{k}\ell_{b}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{f}}^{L,P} C_{0}(m_{u_{k}}^{2}, m_{K}^{2}, m_{P}^{2}) + \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \sum_{J=1}^{M} \Biggl[\Gamma_{u_{j}\ell_{a}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{u_{k}\ell_{b}}^{L,K} \Gamma_{u_{k}\nu_{f}}^{J*} \Gamma_{u_{j}\nu_{i}}^{J} D_{2}(m_{u_{k}}^{2}, m_{u_{j}}^{2}, m_{K}^{2}, \bar{m}_{J}^{2}) + \Gamma_{d_{j}\ell_{a}}^{J*} \Gamma_{d_{k}\ell_{b}}^{J} \Gamma_{d_{k}\nu_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{i}}^{L,K*} C_{0}(0, \bar{m}_{J}^{2}, m_{K}^{2}) \Biggr] \Biggr\},$$
(A.31)

$$D_{\ell_{a}\ell_{b}}^{R,fi} = -\frac{1}{64\pi^{2}} \left\{ \sum_{\{K,P\}=1}^{N+M} \Gamma_{u_{k}\ell_{a}}^{R,P*} \Gamma_{u_{k}\ell_{b}}^{R,K} \Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{f}}^{L,K*} \Gamma_{d_{j}\nu_{i}}^{L,P} C_{0}\left(m_{u_{k}}^{2}, m_{K}^{2}, m_{P}^{2}\right) - 2 \sum_{K=1}^{N+M} \sum_{J=1}^{M} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{a}}^{R,K*} \Gamma_{u_{3}\ell_{b}}^{R,K} \Gamma_{u_{3}\nu_{f}}^{J*} \Gamma_{u_{3}\nu_{i}}^{J} m_{t}^{2} D_{0}\left(m_{t}^{2}, m_{t}^{2}, m_{K}^{2}, \bar{m}_{J}^{2}\right) \right\}.$$

The contributions of the W and Z penguins are given by eq. (3.82) and eq. (3.83), respectively. Now the effective couplings from eq. (A.25), eq. (A.16) and eq. (A.21) have to be used.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- CMS collaboration, Highlights and Perspectives from the CMS Experiment, in 5th Large Hadron Collider Physics Conference (LHCP 2017) Shanghai, China, May 15–20, 2017, fermilab-conf-17-366 [arXiv:1709.03006] [INSPIRE].
- [2] ATLAS collaboration, ATLAS results and prospects with focus on beyond the Standard Model, Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc. 303-305 (2018) 43 [INSPIRE].
- [3] MUON G-2 collaboration, Final Report of the Muon E821 Anomalous Magnetic Moment Measurement at BNL, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 072003 [hep-ex/0602035] [INSPIRE].
- [4] P.J. Mohr, D.B. Newell and B.N. Taylor, CODATA Recommended Values of the Fundamental Physical Constants: 2014, Rev. Mod. Phys. 88 (2016) 035009
 [arXiv:1507.07956] [INSPIRE].
- [5] MUON G-2 collaboration, Muon (g-2) Technical Design Report, arXiv:1501.06858 [INSPIRE].
- [6] J-PARC G-'2/EDM collaboration, A novel precision measurement of muon g-2 and EDM at J-PARC, AIP Conf. Proc. 1467 (2012) 45.
- T.P. Gorringe and D.W. Hertzog, Precision Muon Physics, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 84 (2015) 73 [arXiv:1506.01465] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Czarnecki, B. Krause and W.J. Marciano, Electroweak Fermion loop contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) R2619 [hep-ph/9506256]
 [INSPIRE].

- [9] A. Czarnecki, B. Krause and W.J. Marciano, *Electroweak corrections to the muon anomalous magnetic moment*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **76** (1996) 3267 [hep-ph/9512369] [INSPIRE].
- [10] C. Gnendiger, D. Stöckinger and H. Stöckinger-Kim, The electroweak contributions to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ after the Higgs boson mass measurement, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 053005 [arXiv:1306.5546] [INSPIRE].
- T. Aoyama, T. Kinoshita and M. Nio, Revised and Improved Value of the QED Tenth-Order Electron Anomalous Magnetic Moment, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 036001
 [arXiv:1712.06060] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Della Morte et al., The hadronic vacuum polarization contribution to the muon g 2from lattice QCD, JHEP 10 (2017) 020 [arXiv:1705.01775] [INSPIRE].
- [13] M. Davier, A. Hoecker, B. Malaescu and Z. Zhang, Reevaluation of the hadronic vacuum polarisation contributions to the Standard Model predictions of the muon g - 2 and α(m²_Z) using newest hadronic cross-section data, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 827 [arXiv:1706.09436] [INSPIRE].
- BUDAPEST-MARSEILLE-WUPPERTAL collaboration, Hadronic vacuum polarization contribution to the anomalous magnetic moments of leptons from first principles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 022002 [arXiv:1711.04980] [INSPIRE].
- [15] RBC and UKQCD collaborations, Calculation of the hadronic vacuum polarization contribution to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 022003
 [arXiv:1801.07224] [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Keshavarzi, D. Nomura and T. Teubner, Muon g 2 and $\alpha(M_Z^2)$: a new data-based analysis, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 114025 [arXiv:1802.02995] [INSPIRE].
- [17] D. Giusti, F. Sanfilippo and S. Simula, Light-quark contribution to the leading hadronic vacuum polarization term of the muon g 2 from twisted-mass fermions, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 114504 [arXiv:1808.00887] [INSPIRE].
- [18] G. Colangelo, M. Hoferichter and P. Stoffer, Two-pion contribution to hadronic vacuum polarization, JHEP 02 (2019) 006 [arXiv:1810.00007] [INSPIRE].
- [19] A. Gérardin, H.B. Meyer and A. Nyffeler, Lattice calculation of the pion transition form factor $\pi^0 \to \gamma^* \gamma^*$, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 074507 [arXiv:1607.08174] [INSPIRE].
- [20] T. Blum et al., Connected and Leading Disconnected Hadronic Light-by-Light Contribution to the Muon Anomalous Magnetic Moment with a Physical Pion Mass, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 022005 [arXiv:1610.04603] [INSPIRE].
- [21] G. Colangelo, M. Hoferichter, M. Procura and P. Stoffer, Rescattering effects in the hadronic-light-by-light contribution to the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 232001 [arXiv:1701.06554] [INSPIRE].
- [22] G. Colangelo, M. Hoferichter, M. Procura and P. Stoffer, Dispersion relation for hadronic light-by-light scattering: two-pion contributions, JHEP 04 (2017) 161 [arXiv:1702.07347]
 [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Blum et al., Using infinite volume, continuum QED and lattice QCD for the hadronic light-by-light contribution to the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 034515 [arXiv:1705.01067] [INSPIRE].
- [24] M. Hoferichter, B.-L. Hoid, B. Kubis, S. Leupold and S.P. Schneider, Pion-pole contribution to hadronic light-by-light scattering in the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 112002 [arXiv:1805.01471] [INSPIRE].

- [25] G. Colangelo, F. Hagelstein, M. Hoferichter, L. Laub and P. Stoffer, Longitudinal short-distance constraints for the hadronic light-by-light contribution to $(g-2)_{\mu}$ with large-N_c Regge models, JHEP **03** (2020) 101 [arXiv:1910.13432] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Kurz, T. Liu, P. Marquard and M. Steinhauser, Hadronic contribution to the muon anomalous magnetic moment to next-to-next-to-leading order, Phys. Lett. B 734 (2014) 144 [arXiv:1403.6400] [INSPIRE].
- [27] G. Colangelo, M. Hoferichter, A. Nyffeler, M. Passera and P. Stoffer, *Remarks on higher-order hadronic corrections to the muon g-2*, *Phys. Lett.* B 735 (2014) 90 [arXiv:1403.7512] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Borsányi et al., Leading-order hadronic vacuum polarization contribution to the muon magnetic momentfrom lattice QCD, arXiv:2002.12347 [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Davier, A. Hoecker, B. Malaescu and Z. Zhang, A new evaluation of the hadronic vacuum polarisation contributions to the muon anomalous magnetic moment and to α(m²_Z), Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 241 [arXiv:1908.00921] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Keshavarzi, D. Nomura and T. Teubner, g 2 of charged leptons, $\alpha(M_Z^2)$ and the hyperfine splitting of muonium, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 014029 [arXiv:1911.00367] [INSPIRE].
- [31] B. Ananthanarayan, I. Caprini and D. Das, Pion electromagnetic form factor at high precision with implications to a^{ππ}_μ and the onset of perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 114015 [arXiv:1810.09265] [INSPIRE].
- [32] M. Hoferichter, B.-L. Hoid and B. Kubis, Three-pion contribution to hadronic vacuum polarization, JHEP 08 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1907.01556] [INSPIRE].
- [33] M. Passera, W.J. Marciano and A. Sirlin, The muon g-2 and the bounds on the Higgs boson mass, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 013009 [arXiv:0804.1142] [INSPIRE].
- [34] J. Haller, A. Hoecker, R. Kogler, K. Mönig, T. Peiffer and J. Stelzer, Update of the global electroweak fit and constraints on two-Higgs-doublet models, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 675 [arXiv:1803.01853] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Crivellin, M. Hoferichter and P. Schmidt-Wellenburg, Combined explanations of $(g-2)_{\mu,e}$ and implications for a large muon EDM, Phys. Rev. **D** 98 (2018) 113002 [arXiv:1807.11484] [INSPIRE].
- [36] M. Bauer and M. Neubert, Minimal Leptoquark Explanation for the $R_{D^{(*)}}$, R_K and $(g-2)_g$ Anomalies, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116** (2016) 141802 [arXiv:1511.01900] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Djouadi, T. Kohler, M. Spira and J. Tutas, (eb), (et) type leptoquarks at ep colliders, Z. Phys. C 46 (1990) 679 [INSPIRE].
- [38] D. Chakraverty, D. Choudhury and A. Datta, A nonsupersymmetric resolution of the anomalous muon magnetic moment, Phys. Lett. B 506 (2001) 103 [hep-ph/0102180]
 [INSPIRE].
- [39] K.-m. Cheung, Muon anomalous magnetic moment and leptoquark solutions, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 033001 [hep-ph/0102238] [INSPIRE].
- [40] O. Popov and G.A. White, One Leptoquark to unify them? Neutrino masses and unification in the light of (g − 2)_μ, R_{D^(*)} and R_K anomalies, Nucl. Phys. B 923 (2017) 324
 [arXiv:1611.04566] [INSPIRE].
- [41] C.-H. Chen, T. Nomura and H. Okada, Explanation of $B \to K^{(*)}\ell^+\ell^-$ and muon g-2 and implications at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 115005 [arXiv:1607.04857] [INSPIRE].

- [42] C. Biggio, M. Bordone, L. Di Luzio and G. Ridolfi, Massive vectors and loop observables: the g-2 case, JHEP 10 (2016) 002 [arXiv:1607.07621] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Davidson, D.C. Bailey and B.A. Campbell, Model independent constraints on leptoquarks from rare processes, Z. Phys. C 61 (1994) 613 [hep-ph/9309310] [INSPIRE].
- [44] G. Couture and H. Konig, Bounds on second generation scalar leptoquarks from the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 555 [hep-ph/9507263]
 [INSPIRE].
- [45] U. Mahanta, Implications of BNL measurement of δa_{μ} on a class of scalar leptoquark interactions, Eur. Phys. J. C 21 (2001) 171 [hep-ph/0102176] [INSPIRE].
- [46] F.S. Queiroz, K. Sinha and A. Strumia, Leptoquarks, Dark Matter and Anomalous LHC Events, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 035006 [arXiv:1409.6301] [INSPIRE].
- [47] C.-H. Chen, T. Nomura and H. Okada, Excesses of muon g 2, $R_{D^{(*)}}$ and R_K in a leptoquark model, Phys. Lett. B 774 (2017) 456 [arXiv:1703.03251] [INSPIRE].
- [48] D. Das, C. Hati, G. Kumar and N. Mahajan, Towards a unified explanation of $R_{D^{(*)}}$, R_K and $(g-2)_{\mu}$ anomalies in a left-right model with leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. **D** 94 (2016) 055034 [arXiv:1605.06313] [INSPIRE].
- [49] A. Crivellin, D. Müller and T. Ota, Simultaneous explanation of $R(D^{(*)})$ and $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$: the last scalar leptoquarks standing, JHEP 09 (2017) 040 [arXiv:1703.09226] [INSPIRE].
- [50] Y. Cai, J. Gargalionis, M.A. Schmidt and R.R. Volkas, Reconsidering the One Leptoquark solution: flavor anomalies and neutrino mass, JHEP 10 (2017) 047 [arXiv:1704.05849] [INSPIRE].
- [51] K. Kowalska, E.M. Sessolo and Y. Yamamoto, Constraints on charmphilic solutions to the muon g-2 with leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 055007 [arXiv:1812.06851] [INSPIRE].
- [52] R. Mandal and A. Pich, Constraints on scalar leptoquarks from lepton and kaon physics, JHEP 12 (2019) 089 [arXiv:1908.11155] [INSPIRE].
- [53] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer and O. Sumensari, Muon g 2 and scalar leptoquark mixing, arXiv:1910.03877 [INSPIRE].
- [54] W. Buchmüller, R. Ruckl and D. Wyler, Leptoquarks in Lepton-Quark Collisions, Phys. Lett. B 191 (1987) 442 [Erratum ibid. B 448 (1999) 320] [INSPIRE].
- [55] BABAR collaboration, Evidence for an excess of $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\tau^-\bar{\nu}_{\tau}$ decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 101802 [arXiv:1205.5442] [INSPIRE].
- [56] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of the ratio of branching fractions $\mathcal{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to D^{*+}\tau^-\bar{\nu}_{\tau})/\mathcal{B}(\bar{B}^0 \to D^{*+}\mu^-\bar{\nu}_{\mu}), Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 111803 [Erratum ibid. 115 (2015) 159901] [arXiv:1506.08614] [INSPIRE].$
- [57] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of the ratio of the $B^0 \to D^{*-}\tau^+\nu_{\tau}$ and $B^0 \to D^{*-}\mu^+\nu_{\mu}$ branching fractions using three-prong τ -lepton decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120** (2018) 171802 [arXiv:1708.08856] [INSPIRE].
- [58] LHCb collaboration, Test of Lepton Flavor Universality by the measurement of the $B^0 \rightarrow D^{*-} \tau^+ \nu_{\tau}$ branching fraction using three-prong τ decays, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 072013 [arXiv:1711.02505] [INSPIRE].
- [59] BELLE collaboration, Measurement of $\mathcal{R}(D)$ and $\mathcal{R}(D^*)$ with a semileptonic tagging method, arXiv:1904.08794 [INSPIRE].
- [60] HFLAV collaboration, Averages of b-hadron, c-hadron and τ -lepton properties as of 2018, arXiv:1909.12524 [INSPIRE].

- [61] P. Gambino, M. Jung and S. Schacht, The V_{cb} puzzle: An update, Phys. Lett. B 795 (2019) 386 [arXiv:1905.08209] [INSPIRE].
- [62] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of the ratio of branching fractions $\mathcal{B}(B_c^+ \to J/\psi \tau^+ \nu_{\tau})/\mathcal{B}(B_c^+ \to J/\psi \mu^+ \nu_{\mu}), Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 121801$ [arXiv:1711.05623] [INSPIRE].
- [63] R. Watanabe, New Physics effect on $B_c \to J/\psi \tau \bar{\nu}$ in relation to the $R_{D^{(*)}}$ anomaly, Phys. Lett. **B** 776 (2018) 5 [arXiv:1709.08644] [INSPIRE].
- [64] B. Chauhan and B. Kindra, Invoking Chiral Vector Leptoquark to explain LFU violation in B Decays, arXiv:1709.09989 [INSPIRE].
- [65] C. Murgui, A. Peñuelas, M. Jung and A. Pich, Global fit to $b \to c\tau\nu$ transitions, JHEP 09 (2019) 103 [arXiv:1904.09311] [INSPIRE].
- [66] R.-X. Shi, L.-S. Geng, B. Grinstein, S. Jäger and J. Martin Camalich, Revisiting the new-physics interpretation of the b → cτν data, JHEP 12 (2019) 065 [arXiv:1905.08498] [INSPIRE].
- [67] M. Blanke, A. Crivellin, T. Kitahara, M. Moscati, U. Nierste and I. Nišandžić, Addendum to "Impact of polarization observables and $B_c \to \tau \nu$ on new physics explanations of the $b \to c\tau \nu$ anomaly", Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 035035 [arXiv:1905.08253] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S. Kumbhakar, A.K. Alok, D. Kumar and S.U. Sankar, A global fit to b → cτν̄ anomalies after Moriond 2019, in 2019 European Physical Society Conference on High Energy Physics (EPS-HEP2019) Ghent, Belgium, July 10–17, 2019, arXiv:1909.02840 [INSPIRE].
- [69] R. Alonso, B. Grinstein and J. Martin Camalich, Lepton universality violation and lepton flavor conservation in B-meson decays, JHEP 10 (2015) 184 [arXiv:1505.05164]
 [INSPIRE].
- [70] L. Calibbi, A. Crivellin and T. Ota, Effective Field Theory Approach to $b \to s\ell\ell^{(\prime)}$, $B \to K^{(*)}\nu\bar{\nu}$ and $B \to D^{(*)}\tau\nu$ with Third Generation Couplings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 181801 [arXiv:1506.02661] [INSPIRE].
- [71] S. Fajfer and N. Košnik, Vector leptoquark resolution of R_K and $R_{D^{(*)}}$ puzzles, Phys. Lett. **B** 755 (2016) 270 [arXiv:1511.06024] [INSPIRE].
- [72] G. Hiller, D. Loose and K. Schönwald, Leptoquark Flavor Patterns & B Decay Anomalies, JHEP 12 (2016) 027 [arXiv:1609.08895] [INSPIRE].
- [73] B. Bhattacharya, A. Datta, J.-P. Guévin, D. London and R. Watanabe, Simultaneous Explanation of the R_K and R_{D(*)} Puzzles: a Model Analysis, JHEP 01 (2017) 015
 [arXiv:1609.09078] [INSPIRE].
- [74] D. Buttazzo, A. Greljo, G. Isidori and D. Marzocca, B-physics anomalies: a guide to combined explanations, JHEP 11 (2017) 044 [arXiv:1706.07808] [INSPIRE].
- [75] R. Barbieri, G. Isidori, A. Pattori and F. Senia, Anomalies in B-decays and U(2) flavour symmetry, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 67 [arXiv:1512.01560] [INSPIRE].
- [76] R. Barbieri, C.W. Murphy and F. Senia, B-decay Anomalies in a Composite Leptoquark Model, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 8 [arXiv:1611.04930] [INSPIRE].
- [77] L. Calibbi, A. Crivellin and T. Li, Model of vector leptoquarks in view of the B-physics anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 115002 [arXiv:1709.00692] [INSPIRE].
- M. Bordone, C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martin and G. Isidori, A three-site gauge model for flavor hierarchies and flavor anomalies, Phys. Lett. B 779 (2018) 317 [arXiv:1712.01368]
 [INSPIRE].

- [79] M. Bordone, C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martín and G. Isidori, Low-energy signatures of the PS³ model: from B-physics anomalies to LFV, JHEP 10 (2018) 148 [arXiv:1805.09328] [INSPIRE].
- [80] J. Kumar, D. London and R. Watanabe, Combined Explanations of the $b \to s\mu^+\mu^-$ and $b \to c\tau^-\bar{\nu}$ Anomalies: a General Model Analysis, Phys. Rev. **D** 99 (2019) 015007 [arXiv:1806.07403] [INSPIRE].
- [81] A. Biswas, D. Kumar Ghosh, N. Ghosh, A. Shaw and A.K. Swain, Collider signature of U₁ Leptoquark and constraints from b → c observables, J. Phys. G 47 (2020) 045005 [arXiv:1808.04169] [INSPIRE].
- [82] A. Crivellin, C. Greub, D. Müller and F. Saturnino, Importance of Loop Effects in Explaining the Accumulated Evidence for New Physics in B Decays with a Vector Leptoquark, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 011805 [arXiv:1807.02068] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Blanke and A. Crivellin, B Meson Anomalies in a Pati-Salam Model within the Randall-Sundrum Background, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 011801 [arXiv:1801.07256]
 [INSPIRE].
- [84] I. de Medeiros Varzielas and J. Talbert, Simplified Models of Flavourful Leptoquarks, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 536 [arXiv:1901.10484] [INSPIRE].
- [85] C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martin and G. Isidori, *Revisiting the vector leptoquark explanation* of the *B*-physics anomalies, *JHEP* **07** (2019) 168 [arXiv:1903.11517] [INSPIRE].
- [86] M. Bordone, O. Catà and T. Feldmann, Effective Theory Approach to New Physics with Flavour: General Framework and a Leptoquark Example, JHEP 01 (2020) 067 [arXiv:1910.02641] [INSPIRE].
- [87] M. Tanaka and R. Watanabe, New physics in the weak interaction of $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\tau\bar{\nu}$, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 034028 [arXiv:1212.1878] [INSPIRE].
- [88] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer, N. Košnik and I. Nišandžić, Minimally flavored colored scalar in $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)} \tau \bar{\nu}$ and the mass matrices constraints, JHEP 11 (2013) 084 [arXiv:1306.6493] [INSPIRE].
- [89] Y. Sakaki, M. Tanaka, A. Tayduganov and R. Watanabe, Testing leptoquark models in $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)} \tau \bar{\nu}$, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 094012 [arXiv:1309.0301] [INSPIRE].
- [90] S. Sahoo and R. Mohanta, Scalar leptoquarks and the rare B meson decays, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 094019 [arXiv:1501.05193] [INSPIRE].
- [91] U.K. Dey, D. Kar, M. Mitra, M. Spannowsky and A.C. Vincent, Searching for Leptoquarks at IceCube and the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 035014 [arXiv:1709.02009] [INSPIRE].
- [92] D. Bečirević and O. Sumensari, A leptoquark model to accommodate $R_K^{\text{exp}} < R_K^{\text{SM}}$ and $R_{K^*}^{\text{exp}} < R_{K^*}^{\text{SM}}$, JHEP 08 (2017) 104 [arXiv:1704.05835] [INSPIRE].
- [93] B. Chauhan, B. Kindra and A. Narang, Discrepancies in simultaneous explanation of flavor anomalies and IceCube PeV events using leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 095007 [arXiv:1706.04598] [INSPIRE].
- [94] D. Bečirević, I. Doršner, S. Fajfer, N. Košnik, D.A. Faroughy and O. Sumensari, Scalar leptoquarks from grand unified theories to accommodate the B-physics anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 055003 [arXiv:1806.05689] [INSPIRE].
- [95] O. Popov, M.A. Schmidt and G. White, R_2 as a single leptoquark solution to $R_{D^{(*)}}$ and $R_{K^{(*)}}$, *Phys. Rev.* D 100 (2019) 035028 [arXiv:1905.06339] [INSPIRE].

- [96] S. Fajfer, J.F. Kamenik, I. Nišandžić and J. Zupan, Implications of Lepton Flavor Universality Violations in B Decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 161801
 [arXiv:1206.1872] [INSPIRE].
- [97] N.G. Deshpande and A. Menon, *Hints of R-parity violation in B decays into* $\tau\nu$, *JHEP* **01** (2013) 025 [arXiv:1208.4134] [INSPIRE].
- [98] M. Freytsis, Z. Ligeti and J.T. Ruderman, Flavor models for $\bar{B} \to D^{(*)}\tau\bar{\nu}$, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 054018 [arXiv:1506.08896] [INSPIRE].
- [99] X.-Q. Li, Y.-D. Yang and X. Zhang, Revisiting the one leptoquark solution to the $R(D^{(*)})$ anomalies and its phenomenological implications, JHEP **08** (2016) 054 [arXiv:1605.09308] [INSPIRE].
- [100] J. Zhu, H.-M. Gan, R.-M. Wang, Y.-Y. Fan, Q. Chang and Y.-G. Xu, Probing the *R*-parity violating supersymmetric effects in the exclusive $b \to c\ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$ decays, Phys. Rev. **D** 93 (2016) 094023 [arXiv:1602.06491] [INSPIRE].
- [101] N.G. Deshpande and X.-G. He, Consequences of R-parity violating interactions for anomalies in B
 → D^(*)τν and b → sμ⁺μ⁻, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 134 [arXiv:1608.04817] [INSPIRE].
- [102] D. Bečirević, N. Košnik, O. Sumensari and R. Zukanovich Funchal, Palatable Leptoquark Scenarios for Lepton Flavor Violation in Exclusive $b \rightarrow s\ell_1\ell_2$ modes, JHEP **11** (2016) 035 [arXiv:1608.07583] [INSPIRE].
- [103] W. Altmannshofer, P.S. Bhupal Dev and A. Soni, R_{D(*)} anomaly: A possible hint for natural supersymmetry with R-parity violation, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 095010
 [arXiv:1704.06659] [INSPIRE].
- [104] S. Kamali, A. Rashed and A. Datta, New physics in inclusive $B \to X_c \ell \bar{\nu}$ decay in light of $R(D^{(*)})$ measurements, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 095034 [arXiv:1801.08259] [INSPIRE].
- [105] A. Azatov, D. Bardhan, D. Ghosh, F. Sgarlata and E. Venturini, Anatomy of $b \rightarrow c\tau\nu$ anomalies, JHEP 11 (2018) 187 [arXiv:1805.03209] [INSPIRE].
- [106] J. Zhu, B. Wei, J.-H. Sheng, R.-M. Wang, Y. Gao and G.-R. Lu, Probing the *R*-parity violating supersymmetric effects in $B_c \to J/\psi \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$, $\eta_c \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$ and $\Lambda_b \to \Lambda_c \ell^- \bar{\nu}_\ell$ decays, Nucl. Phys. **B** 934 (2018) 380 [arXiv:1801.00917] [INSPIRE].
- [107] A. Angelescu, D. Bečirević, D.A. Faroughy and O. Sumensari, Closing the window on single leptoquark solutions to the B-physics anomalies, JHEP 10 (2018) 183 [arXiv:1808.08179]
 [INSPIRE].
- [108] T.J. Kim, P. Ko, J. Li, J. Park and P. Wu, Correlation between $R_{D^{(*)}}$ and top quark FCNC decays in leptoquark models, JHEP **07** (2019) 025 [arXiv:1812.08484] [INSPIRE].
- [109] A. Crivellin and F. Saturnino, Correlating tauonic B decays with the neutron electric dipole moment via a scalar leptoquark, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 115014 [arXiv:1905.08257]
 [INSPIRE].
- [110] H. Yan, Y.-D. Yang and X.-B. Yuan, Phenomenology of $b \to c\tau\bar{\nu}$ decays in a scalar leptoquark model, Chin. Phys. C 43 (2019) 083105 [arXiv:1905.01795] [INSPIRE].
- [111] D. Marzocca, Addressing the B-physics anomalies in a fundamental Composite Higgs Model, JHEP 07 (2018) 121 [arXiv:1803.10972] [INSPIRE].
- [112] I. Bigaran, J. Gargalionis and R.R. Volkas, A near-minimal leptoquark model for reconciling flavour anomalies and generating radiative neutrino masses, JHEP 10 (2019) 106
 [arXiv:1906.01870] [INSPIRE].

- [113] LHCb collaboration, Test of lepton universality with $B^0 \to K^{*0}\ell^+\ell^-$ decays, JHEP 08 (2017) 055 [arXiv:1705.05802] [INSPIRE].
- [114] LHCb collaboration, Search for lepton-universality violation in $B^+ \to K^+ \ell^+ \ell^-$ decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122** (2019) 191801 [arXiv:1903.09252] [INSPIRE].
- [115] B. Capdevila, A. Crivellin, S. Descotes-Genon, J. Matias and J. Virto, *Patterns of New Physics in* $b \rightarrow s\ell^+\ell^-$ *transitions in the light of recent data, JHEP* **01** (2018) 093 [arXiv:1704.05340] [INSPIRE].
- [116] W. Altmannshofer, P. Stangl and D.M. Straub, Interpreting Hints for Lepton Flavor Universality Violation, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 055008 [arXiv:1704.05435] [INSPIRE].
- [117] G. D'Amico et al., Flavour anomalies after the R_{K^*} measurement, JHEP **09** (2017) 010 [arXiv:1704.05438] [INSPIRE].
- [118] M. Ciuchini et al., On Flavourful Easter eggs for New Physics hunger and Lepton Flavour Universality violation, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 688 [arXiv:1704.05447] [INSPIRE].
- [119] G. Hiller and I. Nišandžić, R_K and R_{K^*} beyond the standard model, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 035003 [arXiv:1704.05444] [INSPIRE].
- [120] L.-S. Geng, B. Grinstein, S. Jäger, J. Martin Camalich, X.-L. Ren and R.-X. Shi, Towards the discovery of new physics with lepton-universality ratios of b → sll decays, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 093006 [arXiv:1704.05446] [INSPIRE].
- [121] T. Hurth, F. Mahmoudi, D. Martinez Santos and S. Neshatpour, Lepton nonuniversality in exclusive b→sll decays, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 095034 [arXiv:1705.06274] [INSPIRE].
- [122] M. Algueró et al., Emerging patterns of New Physics with and without Lepton Flavour Universal contributions, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 714 [arXiv:1903.09578] [INSPIRE].
- [123] J. Aebischer, W. Altmannshofer, D. Guadagnoli, M. Reboud, P. Stangl and D.M. Straub, B-decay discrepancies after Moriond 2019, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 252 [arXiv:1903.10434] [INSPIRE].
- [124] M. Ciuchini et al., New Physics in $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ confronts new data on Lepton Universality, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 719 [arXiv:1903.09632] [INSPIRE].
- [125] A. Arbey, T. Hurth, F. Mahmoudi, D.M. Santos and S. Neshatpour, Update on the $b \rightarrow s$ anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 015045 [arXiv:1904.08399] [INSPIRE].
- [126] LHCb collaboration, Angular analysis of the $B^0 \to K^{*0}\mu^+\mu^-$ decay using $3fb^{-1}$ of integrated luminosity, JHEP **02** (2016) 104 [arXiv:1512.04442] [INSPIRE].
- [127] C. Hambrock, A. Khodjamirian and A. Rusov, Hadronic effects and observables in $B \to \pi \ell^+ \ell^-$ decay at large recoil, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 074020 [arXiv:1506.07760] [INSPIRE].
- [128] LHCb collaboration, First measurement of the differential branching fraction and CP asymmetry of the $B^{\pm} \rightarrow \pi^{\pm}\mu^{+}\mu^{-}$ decay, JHEP **10** (2015) 034 [arXiv:1509.00414] [INSPIRE].
- [129] A.V. Rusov, Probing New Physics in $b \rightarrow d$ Transitions, arXiv:1911.12819 [INSPIRE].
- [130] A. Crivellin, G. D'Ambrosio and J. Heeck, Addressing the LHC flavor anomalies with horizontal gauge symmetries, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 075006 [arXiv:1503.03477]
 [INSPIRE].
- [131] J. Fuentes-Martín, G. Isidori, J. Pagès and K. Yamamoto, With or without U(2)? Probing non-standard flavor and helicity structures in semileptonic B decays, Phys. Lett. B 800 (2020) 135080 [arXiv:1909.02519] [INSPIRE].

- [132] L. Calibbi, A. Crivellin, F. Kirk, C.A. Manzari and L. Vernazza, Z' models with less-minimal flavour violation, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 095003 [arXiv:1910.00014]
 [INSPIRE].
- [133] A. Crivellin and F. Saturnino, Explaining the Flavor Anomalies with a Vector Leptoquark (Moriond 2019 update), PoS(DIS2019)163 [arXiv:1906.01222] [INSPIRE].
- [134] J. Bernigaud, I. de Medeiros Varzielas and J. Talbert, Finite Family Groups for Fermionic and Leptoquark Mixing Patterns, JHEP 01 (2020) 194 [arXiv:1906.11270] [INSPIRE].
- [135] J. Fuentes-Martín, G. Isidori, M. König and N. Selimović, Vector Leptoquarks Beyond Tree Level, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 035024 [arXiv:1910.13474] [INSPIRE].
- [136] I. de Medeiros Varzielas and G. Hiller, Clues for flavor from rare lepton and quark decays, JHEP 06 (2015) 072 [arXiv:1503.01084] [INSPIRE].
- [137] S.-M. Choi, Y.-J. Kang, H.M. Lee and T.-G. Ro, Lepto-Quark Portal Dark Matter, JHEP 10 (2018) 104 [arXiv:1807.06547] [INSPIRE].
- [138] M. Hirsch, H.V. Klapdor-Kleingrothaus and S.G. Kovalenko, New low-energy leptoquark interactions, Phys. Lett. B 378 (1996) 17 [hep-ph/9602305] [INSPIRE].
- [139] F.F. Deppisch, S. Kulkarni, H. Päs and E. Schumacher, Leptoquark patterns unifying neutrino masses, flavor anomalies and the diphoton excess, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 013003
 [arXiv:1603.07672] [INSPIRE].
- [140] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer and N. Košnik, Leptoquark mechanism of neutrino masses within the grand unification framework, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 417 [arXiv:1701.08322] [INSPIRE].
- [141] J. Heeck and D. Teresi, Pati-Salam explanations of the B-meson anomalies, JHEP 12 (2018) 103 [arXiv:1808.07492] [INSPIRE].
- [142] O. Catà and T. Mannel, Linking lepton number violation with B anomalies, arXiv:1903.01799 [INSPIRE].
- [143] K.S. Babu, P.S.B. Dev, S. Jana and A. Thapa, Non-Standard Interactions in Radiative Neutrino Mass Models, JHEP 03 (2020) 006 [arXiv:1907.09498] [INSPIRE].
- [144] F. Borzumati and C. Greub, 2HDMs predictions for $\overline{B} \to X(s)\gamma$ in NLO QCD, Phys. Rev. **D** 58 (1998) 074004 [hep-ph/9802391] [INSPIRE].
- [145] F. Borzumati, C. Greub, T. Hurth and D. Wyler, Gluino contribution to radiative B decays: Organization of QCD corrections and leading order results, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 075005
 [hep-ph/9911245] [INSPIRE].
- [146] C. Bobeth, U. Haisch, A. Lenz, B. Pecjak and G. Tetlalmatzi-Xolocotzi, On new physics in $\Delta\Gamma_d$, JHEP 06 (2014) 040 [arXiv:1404.2531] [INSPIRE].
- [147] C. Cornella, G. Isidori, M. König, S. Liechti, P. Owen and N. Serra, Hunting for $B^+ \to K^+ \tau^+ \tau^-$ imprints on the $B^+ \to K^+ \mu^+ \mu^-$ dimuon spectrum, arXiv:2001.04470 [INSPIRE].
- [148] J. Aebischer, A. Crivellin and C. Greub, QCD improved matching for semileptonic B decays with leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 055002 [arXiv:1811.08907] [INSPIRE].
- [149] C. Bobeth, M. Misiak and J. Urban, Photonic penguins at two loops and m_t dependence of $BR[B \to X_s l^+ l^-]$, Nucl. Phys. **B** 574 (2000) 291 [hep-ph/9910220] [INSPIRE].
- [150] T. Huber, E. Lunghi, M. Misiak and D. Wyler, *Electromagnetic logarithms in* $\bar{B} \to X_s l^+ l^-$, *Nucl. Phys.* **B** 740 (2006) 105 [hep-ph/0512066] [INSPIRE].

- [151] M. Algueró, B. Capdevila, S. Descotes-Genon, P. Masjuan and J. Matias, Are we overlooking lepton flavour universal new physics in b → sll?, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 075017 [arXiv:1809.08447] [INSPIRE].
- [152] LHCb collaboration, Search for the decays $B_s^0 \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ and $B^0 \to \tau^+ \tau^-$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 251802 [arXiv:1703.02508] [INSPIRE].
- [153] M. Ziegler, Search for the Decay $B^0 \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ with the Belle Experiment, Ph.D. thesis, KIT, Karlsruhe, Germany, (2016).
- [154] C. Bobeth, M. Gorbahn, T. Hermann, M. Misiak, E. Stamou and M. Steinhauser, $B_{s,d} \rightarrow l^+l^-$ in the Standard Model with Reduced Theoretical Uncertainty, Phys. Rev. Lett. **112** (2014) 101801 [arXiv:1311.0903] [INSPIRE].
- [155] C. Bobeth, Updated B_q → ℓℓ in the standard model at higher orders, in Proceedings, 49th Rencontres de Moriond on Electroweak Interactions and Unified Theories: La Thuile, Italy, March 15-22, 2014, pp. 75-80, arXiv:1405.4907 [INSPIRE].
- [156] B. Capdevila, A. Crivellin, S. Descotes-Genon, L. Hofer and J. Matias, Searching for New Physics with $b \to s\tau^+\tau^-$ processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120** (2018) 181802 [arXiv:1712.01919] [INSPIRE].
- [157] A. Crivellin, L. Hofer, J. Matias, U. Nierste, S. Pokorski and J. Rosiek, Lepton-flavour violating B decays in generic Z' models, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 054013
 [arXiv:1504.07928] [INSPIRE].
- [158] BABAR collaboration, A search for the decay modes $B^{+-} \rightarrow h^{+-}\tau^{+-}l$, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 012004 [arXiv:1204.2852] [INSPIRE].
- [159] LHCb collaboration, Search for the lepton-flavour-violating decays $B_s^0 \to \tau^{\pm} \mu^{\mp}$ and $B^0 \to \tau^{\pm} \mu^{\mp}$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123** (2019) 211801 [arXiv:1905.06614] [INSPIRE].
- [160] BELLE collaboration, Search for Lepton-Flavor-Violating tau Decays into a Lepton and a Vector Meson, Phys. Lett. B 699 (2011) 251 [arXiv:1101.0755] [INSPIRE].
- [161] A.J. Buras, J. Girrbach-Noe, C. Niehoff and D.M. Straub, $B \to K^{(*)}\nu\overline{\nu}$ decays in the Standard Model and beyond, JHEP **02** (2015) 184 [arXiv:1409.4557] [INSPIRE].
- [162] BELLE collaboration, Search for $B \to h\nu\bar{\nu}$ decays with semileptonic tagging at Belle, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 091101 [arXiv:1702.03224] [INSPIRE].
- [163] BELLE-II collaboration, Belle II Technical Design Report, arXiv:1011.0352 [INSPIRE].
- [164] M. González-Alonso, J. Martin Camalich and K. Mimouni, Renormalization-group evolution of new physics contributions to (semi)leptonic meson decays, Phys. Lett. B 772 (2017) 777 [arXiv:1706.00410] [INSPIRE].
- [165] M. Blanke et al., Impact of polarization observables and $B_c \to \tau \nu$ on new physics explanations of the $b \to c\tau \nu$ anomaly, Phys. Rev. **D** 99 (2019) 075006 [arXiv:1811.09603] [INSPIRE].
- [166] S. Iguro, T. Kitahara, Y. Omura, R. Watanabe and K. Yamamoto, D^* polarization vs. $R_{D^{(*)}}$ anomalies in the leptoquark models, JHEP 02 (2019) 194 [arXiv:1811.08899] [INSPIRE].
- [167] A.G. Akeroyd and C.-H. Chen, Constraint on the branching ratio of $B_c \to \tau \bar{\nu}$ from LEP1 and consequences for $R(D^{(*)})$ anomaly, Phys. Rev. **D** 96 (2017) 075011 [arXiv:1708.04072] [INSPIRE].
- [168] M. Jung and D.M. Straub, Constraining new physics in $b \rightarrow c\ell\nu$ transitions, JHEP 01 (2019) 009 [arXiv:1801.01112] [INSPIRE].

- [169] S. de Boer and G. Hiller, Flavor and new physics opportunities with rare charm decays into leptons, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 074001 [arXiv:1510.00311] [INSPIRE].
- [170] A. Lenz et al., Anatomy of New Physics in $B \overline{B}$ mixing, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 036004 [arXiv:1008.1593] [INSPIRE].
- [171] UTFIT collaboration, First Evidence of New Physics in $b \leftrightarrow s$ Transitions, PMC Phys. A **3** (2009) 6 [arXiv:0803.0659] [INSPIRE].
- [172] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, Review of Particle Physics, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 030001 [INSPIRE].
- [173] T. Jubb, M. Kirk, A. Lenz and G. Tetlalmatzi-Xolocotzi, On the ultimate precision of meson mixing observables, Nucl. Phys. B 915 (2017) 431 [arXiv:1603.07770] [INSPIRE].
- [174] UTFIT collaboration, Constraints on new physics from the quark mixing unitarity triangle, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 151803 [hep-ph/0605213] [INSPIRE].
- [175] L. Di Luzio, M. Kirk and A. Lenz, Updated B_s -mixing constraints on new physics models for $b \to s\ell^+\ell^-$ anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 095035 [arXiv:1712.06572] [INSPIRE].
- [176] MEG collaboration, Search for the lepton flavour violating decay $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+ \gamma$ with the full dataset of the MEG experiment, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 434 [arXiv:1605.05081] [INSPIRE].
- [177] BABAR collaboration, Searches for Lepton Flavor Violation in the Decays $\tau^{\pm} \rightarrow e^{\pm}\gamma$ and $\tau^{\pm} \rightarrow \mu^{\pm}\gamma$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **104** (2010) 021802 [arXiv:0908.2381] [INSPIRE].
- [178] P. Arnan, D. Bečirević, F. Mescia and O. Sumensari, *Probing low energy scalar leptoquarks by the leptonic W and Z couplings*, *JHEP* **02** (2019) 109 [arXiv:1901.06315] [INSPIRE].
- [179] ALEPH, DELPHI, L3, OPAL, SLD, LEP ELECTROWEAK WORKING GROUP, SLD ELECTROWEAK GROUP and SLD HEAVY FLAVOUR GROUP collaborations, Precision electroweak measurements on the Z resonance, Phys. Rept. 427 (2006) 257 [hep-ex/0509008] [INSPIRE].
- [180] ATLAS collaboration, Search for the lepton flavor violating decay $Z \rightarrow e\mu$ in pp collisions at \sqrt{s} TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. **D** 90 (2014) 072010 [arXiv:1408.5774] [INSPIRE].
- [181] OPAL collaboration, A search for lepton flavor violating Z0 decays, Z. Phys. C 67 (1995) 555 [INSPIRE].
- [182] DELPHI collaboration, Search for lepton flavor number violating Z0 decays, Z. Phys. C 73 (1997) 243 [INSPIRE].
- [183] FCC collaboration, FCC-ee: The Lepton Collider, Eur. Phys. J. ST 228 (2019) 261
 [INSPIRE].
- [184] A. Pich, Precision Tau Physics, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 75 (2014) 41 [arXiv:1310.7922] [INSPIRE].
- [185] A. Crivellin, M. Ghezzi, L. Panizzi, G.M. Pruna and A. Signer, Low- and high-energy phenomenology of a doubly charged scalar, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 035004 [arXiv:1807.10224] [INSPIRE].
- [186] K. Hayasaka et al., Search for Lepton Flavor Violating τ Decays into Three Leptons with 719 Million Produced $\tau^+\tau^-$ Pairs, Phys. Lett. B 687 (2010) 139 [arXiv:1001.3221] [INSPIRE].
- [187] SINDRUM collaboration, Search for the decay $\mu^+ \rightarrow e^+e^+e^-$, Nucl. Phys. B 299 (1988) 1 [INSPIRE].

- [188] A. Crivellin, D. Müller, A. Signer and Y. Ulrich, Correlating lepton flavor universality violation in B decays with $\mu \to e\gamma$ using leptoquarks, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 015019 [arXiv:1706.08511] [INSPIRE].
- [189] CMS collaboration, Search for leptoquarks coupled to third-generation quarks in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121** (2018) 241802 [arXiv:1809.05558] [INSPIRE].
- [190] ATLAS collaboration, Searches for third-generation scalar leptoquarks in $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV } pp$ collisions with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 06 (2019) 144 [arXiv:1902.08103] [INSPIRE].
- [191] D.A. Faroughy, A. Greljo and J.F. Kamenik, Confronting lepton flavor universality violation in B decays with high-p_T tau lepton searches at LHC, Phys. Lett. B 764 (2017) 126 [arXiv:1609.07138] [INSPIRE].
- [192] A. Greljo and D. Marzocca, High-p_T dilepton tails and flavor physics, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 548 [arXiv:1704.09015] [INSPIRE].
- [193] I. Doršner, S. Fajfer, D.A. Faroughy and N. Košnik, The role of the S₃ GUT leptoquark in flavor universality and collider searches, arXiv:1706.07779 [INSPIRE].
- [194] A. Cerri et al., Report from Working Group 4, CERN Yellow Rep. Monogr. 7 (2019) 867 [arXiv:1812.07638] [INSPIRE].
- [195] G. Hiller, D. Loose and I. Nišandžić, Flavorful leptoquarks at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 075004 [arXiv:1801.09399] [INSPIRE].
- [196] M. Schmaltz and Y.-M. Zhong, The leptoquark Hunter's guide: large coupling, JHEP 01 (2019) 132 [arXiv:1810.10017] [INSPIRE].
- [197] E. Coluccio Leskow, G. D'Ambrosio, A. Crivellin and D. Müller, (g 2)μ, lepton flavor violation and Z decays with leptoquarks: Correlations and future prospects, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 055018 [arXiv:1612.06858] [INSPIRE].